Microbial community dynamics from permafrost across the Pleistocene-Holocene

boundary and response to abrupt climate change

by

Ann Osman Hammad

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Microbiology and Biotechnology

Department of Biological Sciences

University of Alberta

©Ann Osman Hammad, 2015

ABSTRACT

Permafrost houses active microbial communities adapted to constant sub-zero temperatures and anaerobic conditions. These extreme conditions make permafrost an excellent archive for long-term DNA preservation. Recent studies in the laboratory have shown a shift in permafrost bacterial communities upon thaw while experimental warming of Arctic soils in field experiments, some exceeding a decade, have failed to show significant changes. This discrepancy may reflect that previous studies may have been biased because DNA from non-viable cells is well preserved in permafrost and may be PCR amplified. Here we distinguish between DNA originating from viable cells and total bacterial DNA extracted from permafrost. We examine the response of the active bacterial community composition to the rapid warming that accompanied the end of the Pleistocene, 11,700 years ago. This warming resulted in changes in soil edaphic properties, including pH, TOC and TN as a largely grassland ecosystem was replaced by early boreal forest. Our results show that the viable permafrost bacterial community is significantly different from total DNA and these two assemblages are structured by different environmental parameters. The corollary to these findings is that future climate change is unlikely to shift bacterial communities unless the warming is sufficient to change soil edaphic properties.

PREFACE

This thesis is an original work by Ann Hammad. No part of this thesis has been previously published.

The permafrost cores used in this research were previously collected by Matt Mahony, a former graduate student in Dr. Duane Froese's lab.

AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Brian Lanoil, for his continuous support, invaluable knowledge, patience, motivation and advice throughout my graduate studies.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to my committee members, Dr. Duane Froese and Dr. Yan Boucher, for their insightful comments and valuable input.

I am very grateful for my lab mates and great friends Ido Hatam and Sina Kazemi for the advice, help, support and fun times throughout my M.Sc.; it would have been a very lonely lab without them.

I would also like to thank my parents and one and only brother for their incessant love, encouragement and support over the years.

I am forever indebted to my husband, Othman Abdelhamid, for getting me through the stressful times, helping me realize my own potential and believing in me even when I did not believe in myself.

Finally, I would like to thank Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), EnviroNorth, Canadian Circumpolar Institute (CCI), and the department of Biological Sciences at the University of Alberta for the financial support.

Table of Contents

LIST OF TABLES	VII
LIST OF FIGURES	VIII
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	IX
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.2: GLOBAL AND ARCTIC CLIMATE CHANGE	4
1.2.1: Surface Temperatures	
1.2.2: Carbon Dioxide and Methane Concentrations	5
1.3: Arctic Permafrost	6
1.3.1: North American Permafrost	7
1.3.2: Permafrost and Global Warming	
1.3.3: Permafrost Carbon Feedback	
1.3.4: Permafrost Microorganisms	
1.3.4.1: Microbial activity in permafrost	
1.3.4.2: Microbial abundance	
1.3.4.3: Microbial diversity	
1.3.5: Permafrost microorganisms and climate change	21
1.3.5.1: Beringia in the Quaternary	
1.4: LIVE/DEAD MICROBIAL CELL DISTINCTION	
1.5: DIVERSITY INDICATORS	
1.6: RESEARCH PROJECT	
1.6.1: Hypothesis and Predictions	
1.6.2: Research objectives	31
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN	MODERN
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES	MODERN
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES	MODERN
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES	MODERN
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES	MODERN
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES	MODERN 33 33 34 34 34 35
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests 2.2.3: DNA Extraction	MODERN 33 33 34 34 34 35 36
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests 2.2.3: DNA Extraction 2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis	MODERN 33 34 34 34 35 35 36 36
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests 2.2.3: DNA Extraction 2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis	MODERN 33 34 34 34 35 36 36 37
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests 2.2.3: DNA Extraction 2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis 2.3: RESULTS 2.4: DISCUSSION	MODERN 33 33 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests 2.2.3: DNA Extraction 2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis 2.3: RESULTS 2.4: DISCUSSION	MODERN 33 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests 2.2.3: DNA Extraction 2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis 2.3: RESULTS 2.4: DISCUSSION CHAPTER 3: ACTIVE BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES FROM PLEISTOCENE AND	MODERN 33 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41 HOLOCENE
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests 2.2.3: DNA Extraction 2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis 2.3: RESULTS 2.4: DISCUSSION CHAPTER 3: ACTIVE BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES FROM PLEISTOCENE AND AGED PERMAFROST	MODERN 33 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41 HOLOCENE 42
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests 2.2.3: DNA Extraction 2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis 2.3: RESULTS 2.4: DISCUSSION CHAPTER 3: ACTIVE BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES FROM PLEISTOCENE AND AGED PERMAFROST 3.1: ABSTRACT	MODERN 33 34 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41 HOLOCENE 42 42
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES	MODERN 33 33 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41 HOLOCENE 42 42 42
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES	MODERN 33 34 34 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41 HOLOCENE 42 42 42 42 42 42 44
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES	MODERN 33 33 34 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41 HOLOCENE 42 42 42 42 42 44 44
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains. 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests. 2.2.3: DNA Extraction 2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis 2.3: RESULTS 2.4: DISCUSSION CHAPTER 3: ACTIVE BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES FROM PLEISTOCENE AND AGED PERMAFROST 3.1: ABSTRACT 3.2: INTRODUCTION 3.3: MATERIALS AND METHODS 3.3.1: Site description and sampling procedure. 3.3.2: Core subsampling	MODERN 33 33 34 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41 HOLOCENE 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains. 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests. 2.2.3: DNA Extraction 2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis 2.3: RESULTS 2.4: DISCUSSION CHAPTER 3: ACTIVE BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES FROM PLEISTOCENE AND AGED PERMAFROST 3.1: ABSTRACT 3.2: INTRODUCTION 3.3: MATERIALS AND METHODS 3.3.1: Site description and sampling procedure. 3.3.2: Core subsampling 3.3: Soil Chemistry.	MODERN 33 33 34 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41 HOLOCENE 42 42 42 42 42 44 44 45 45 46
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests 2.2.3: DNA Extraction 2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis 2.4: DISCUSSION CHAPTER 3: ACTIVE BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES FROM PLEISTOCENE AND AGED PERMAFROST 3.1: ABSTRACT 3.2: INTRODUCTION 3.3: MATERIALS AND METHODS 3.3.1: Site description and sampling procedure 3.3.2: Core subsampling 3.3.4: PMA treatment	MODERN 33 34 34 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41 HOLOCENE 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION	MODERN 33 33 34 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41 HOLOCENE 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains. 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests. 2.2.3: DNA Extraction. 2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis 2.3: RESULTS 2.4: DISCUSSION. CHAPTER 3: ACTIVE BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES FROM PLEISTOCENE AND AGED PERMAFROST 3.1: ABSTRACT 3.2: INTRODUCTION 3.3: MATERIALS AND METHODS 3.3.1: Site description and sampling procedure. 3.3.2: Core subsampling 3.3.3: Soil Chemistry. 3.3.4: PMA treatment 3.3.5: DNA Extraction. 3.3.6: Contamination prevention and detection	MODERN 33 34 34 34 34 34 35 36 36 36 37 41 HOLOCENE 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42
CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES 2.1: INTRODUCTION 2.2: MATERIALS AND METHODS 2.2.1: Bacterial strains 2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests 2.2.3: DNA Extraction 2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis 2.3: RESULTS 2.4: DISCUSSION CHAPTER 3: ACTIVE BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES FROM PLEISTOCENE AND AGED PERMAFROST 3.1: ABSTRACT 3.2: INTRODUCTION 3.3: MATERIALS AND METHODS 3.3.1: Site description and sampling procedure 3.3.2: Core subsampling 3.3.3: Soil Chemistry 3.3.4: PMA treatment 3.3.5: DNA Extraction 3.3.6: Contamination prevention and detection 3.3.7: DNA sequencing and analysis of environmental samples	MODERN 33 34 34 34 34 34 34 35 36 36 37 41 HOLOCENE 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42

3.4: Results	
3.4.1: Sediment edaphic characteristics	50
3.4.2: PMA untreated samples	52
3.4.3: PMA treated samples	55
3.5: DISCUSSION	
3.6: ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION	75
APPENDIX A	77
REFERENCES	83

LIST OF TABLES

 Table 1. PCR amplification results for lab optimization tests with different PMA concentrations.

Table 2. Soil chemical and physical properties for active layer (AL) and perennially frozen Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P) layer samples.

Table 3. α-diversity measures of the 16S rRNA gene libraries for PMA-treated (+PMA) and untreated (-PMA) active layer (AL) and perennially frozen Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P) layer samples.

Table 4. The effect of warming on microbial community structure and composition in different soil environments.

Table A1. Rates of aerobic CH₄ consumption and first day of activity for active layer (AL) and perennially frozen Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P) layer samples.

Table A2. Rates of CO_2 production and first day of activity for all gas flux experiments for active layer (AL) and perennially frozen Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P) layer samples.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. RFLP of PMA-treated and untreated inoculated soil.

Figure 2. Bacterial communities of untreated active layer (AL), Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P) clustered using PCoA of the Bray-Curtis distance matrix.

Figure 3. Bacterial communities of PMA-treated active layer (AL), Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P) bacterial communities clustered using PCoA of the Bray-Curtis distance matrix.

Figure 4. Relative abundance of bacterial 16S rRNA genes taxonomically classified to the order level in PMA-treated (+PMA) and untreated (-PMA) active layer (AL), Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P).

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

16S rRNA	16S ribosomal RNA
ACE	Abundance-based coverage estimators
AL	Active layer
¹³ C	Carbon-13
¹⁴ C	Carbon-14
cal BP	Calendar years before 1950
CCLM4	Consortium for Small-scale modelling climate Lokalmodell
CFU	Colony forming unit
CH ₄	Methane
CiPEHR	Carbon in Permafrost Experimental Heating Research
CO_2	Carbon dioxide
CTC	tetrazolium salt 5-cyano-2,3-ditolyl tetrazolium chloride
D	Simpson diversity index
DEDP	Dead E. coli, Dead P. aeruginosa
DELP	Dead E. coli, Live P. aeruginosa
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DON	Dissolved organic nitrogen
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
eGFP	Enhanced green fluorescent protein
EMA	Ethidium monoazide
gfpF	Green fluorescent protein forward primer
gfpR	Green fluorescent protein reverse primer

GISS	Goddard Institute for Space Studies
Gt	Gigatonne
GtC	Gigatonnes of carbon
Н	Holocene
H'	Shannon diversity index
H1	Late Holocene permafrost sample, 8100 Cal yrs BP
H2	Mid Holocene permafrost sample, 9550 Cal yrs BP
Н3	Early Holocene permafrost sample, 12150 Cal yrs BP
KCl	Potassium chloride
KH ₂ PO ₄	Monopotassium phosphate
LB	Luria-Bertani
LEDP	Live E. coli, Dead P. aeruginosa
LELP	Live E. coli, Live P. aeruginosa
LLII	Lucky Lady II mine
LOI	Loss on ignition
LTER	Long-term Ecological Research
М	Molar
Ma	Megaannum
MAT	Moist acidic tussock
mM	Millimolar
MRPP	Multi-Response Permutation Procedure
MRR	Mark-release-recapture
N	Nitrogen

NaCl	Sodium chloride
Na ₂ HPO ₄	Disodium phosphate
NH4	Ammonium
nmol	nanomole
N_2O	Nitrous oxide
NO ₃	Nitrate
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
OC	Organic carbon
OTU	Operational taxonomic unit
Р	Pleistocene
P1	Late Pleistocene permafrost sample, 15100 Cal yrs BP
P2	Mid Pleistocene permafrost sample, 16000 Cal yrs BP
Р3	Erly Pleistocene permafrost sample, 16200 Cal yrs BP
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCF	Permaforst carbon feedback
PCoA	Principal coordinates analysis
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PMA	Propidium monoazide
pmoA	particulate methane monooxygenase enzyme
PO ₄	Phosphate
ppb	Parts per billion
ppm	Parts per million
qPCR	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

RDP	Ribosomal Database Projec
-----	---------------------------

- RFLP Restriction fragment length polymorphism
- RNA Ribonucleic acid
- rpm Revolutions per minute
- SOC Soil organic carbon
- SOM Soil organic matter
- TC Total carbon
- TN Total nitrogen
- TOC Total organic carbon
- TP Total phosphorus
- wt/vol Weight per volume
- ya Years ago

CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1: Introduction

Climate warming has a more heightened and accelerated effect on the Arctic compared to the rest of the globe due to rising concentrations of greenhouse gases that result in the increase in surface air temperatures lowering sea ice and snow cover (1). Cold environments such as glaciers, sea ice, and permafrost are particularly sensitive to this rapid climate warming since they are poised at the water/ice phase transition. Permafrost thaw can be particularly problematic. Although permafrost covers only about 20% of the global land surface, it has a carbon store of about 1700 Gt (gigatonne) (2). Nearly 50% of Canada's land area is underlain by permafrost, with a carbon store of nearly 200 Gt (3). While permafrost covers only 21% of North America, it accounts for ~ 60% of organic soil carbon in North American soils and nearly 25% of the world's total soil organic carbon (3, 4).

Though this permafrost-affected environment has not been exposed to extensive human influences, it is being affected by global warming due to human activities. The accumulation of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere is resulting in a much more prominent greenhouse effect, where more infrared radiation is absorbed and re-emitted by the Earth's atmosphere inducing a warming climate that causes permafrost to potentially thaw (5). Plant and animal material and microbial biomass that accumulated over the years are preserved in permafrost during cooling events. While plants and animals cannot survive being trapped in permafrost, recent studies reveal viable microorganisms capable of surviving for many hundreds of thousands of years within permafrost (6, 7). Recent studies show that increased temperatures due to global warming will result in the

warming and thaw of permafrost and the release of the stored organic carbon; therefore turning permafrost into a carbon source (3). The newly available organic carbon is utilized by permafrost microorganisms and is then released into the atmosphere as carbon dioxide (CO_2) and methane (CH_4) leading to positive feedbacks into the climate system that may accelerate future warming (8). The resulting changes in the polar environments will not only affect the landscape, but will also affect all macro- and microorganisms existing in these habitats.

Several studies have investigated the response of permafrost microbial communities to thaw but contradictory results have been observed. In some cases, shifts in the microbial communities were observed in laboratory simulated permafrost thaw (9-12) while *in situ* warming experiments showed slight or no shifts in the communities (13-16). The reason for this discrepancy is yet unclear, but one possible explanation is that previous studies were biased due to the "noise" of the preserved DNA in permafrost. The viable communities are changing, but this change might not be detected since they are a small component of the overall DNA being extracted and studied. To address this issue, we developed a protocol that allows the amplification of DNA from viable cells only. This protocol was used to study the composition of viable microbial communities in permafrost and how these microorganisms responded to soil chemical and physical (edaphic) variability resulting from the abrupt climate change that occurred across the Pleistocene/Holocene boundary.

At the end of the Pleistocene, about 10,000 years ago, the Earth's climate system abruptly warmed, leading to a cascade of changes that drove large-scale extinctions and reorganization of ecosystems. We know a considerable amount about the adaptations,

extirpations and extinctions of large mammals and plant communities at the Pleistocene/Holocene boundary, but relatively little about the changes that took place at the microbial level (8).

In spite of the development of several predictive global climate-change models, these models fail to take microbial potential and metabolism in cold environments into account leading to restricted predictive models. In order to develop more reliable models, permafrost microbial ecology must be better studied and understood. Several techniques and approaches have been used to identify permafrost microbial community members, microbial functions and their response to climate change. It is important to note that several variables such as permafrost age, depth and geochemistry must be taken into account when studying permafrost soils due to their ecosystem complexity (17).

The purpose of this research is to study how soil edaphic parameters affect extant microbial communities in permafrost and to use the changing community composition to determine how these communities adapted to abrupt climate change at the end of the Pleistocene. These changes could have important implications for understanding climate feedbacks and providing a compelling analogue for future changes in microbial communities with ongoing and future warming.

In the following sections of this literature review, I will describe global and arctic climate change, arctic permafrost and it's response to climate change, and permafrost microbiology and their response to climate change. I will review the known impacts of a past rapid climate change event, the Pleistocene/Holocene transition. I will also review methods for distinguishing between viable and non-viable microorganisms, a critical component of my M.Sc. thesis. Finally, I will provide an overview of my thesis.

1.2: Global and Arctic Climate Change

The frozen part of the Earth's surface is known as the cryosphere. These surfaces include snow, permafrost, ice on rivers and lakes, ice caps, glaciers, sea ice and ice sheets. Global climate change is likely contributing to changes observed in the Arctic cryosphere. As the climate warms due to atmospheric greenhouse gas accumulation, all of these parts of the cryosphere change by either melting or completely disappearing. Since 1980, the Arctic warmed by twice as much as the rest of the planet and it is expected to undergo the largest increase in temperature in the future (18).

Changes in the Arctic cryosphere will not only affect the Arctic region but will also affect the global climate. Arctic changes can affect the world's climate in two major ways: 1) overall, the Earth will have lower albedo (i.e. it will reflect less energy into space) due to snow and ice melt, thereby causing the planet's surface to warm; 2) methane and carbon dioxide emissions will increase due to increased organic matter decomposition in retreating permafrost and warmer soils and water bodies. These processes act as positive feedbacks by amplifying global climate change (18).

It is important to note that a significant amount of uncertainty remains regarding how fast the Arctic cryosphere will change and how these changes will not only impact the Arctic but Earth as a whole.

1.2.1: Surface Temperatures

According to NASA's Goddard Institute for Space Studies (GISS), the mean global surface temperature has risen by about 0.8°C since 1880 making 2012 the ninth warmest year since 1880. The average increase in global temperature by 2100 is predicted to be at least twice as much as it has been for the past 100 years with average temperatures increasing by 1.1 to 6.4°C (5). This increase in temperature will be the greatest over land areas and high latitudes, with average Arctic temperatures increasing by twice the global average rate (5).

1.2.2: Carbon Dioxide and Methane Concentrations

Carbon dioxide is the dominant anthropogenic greenhouse gas contributing to global warming. Warming surface temperatures might cause a reduction in the uptake of atmospheric carbon dioxide by land and ocean resulting in a positive feedback for atmospheric carbon dioxide (5). Since high latitudes experience a higher increase in average temperatures, this positive feedback will be much more pronounced in the Arctic with carbon dioxide concentrations higher than average. According to the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), the average carbon dioxide level for February 2013 was ~395 ppm. By 2100, atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations are expected to fall in the range from 700 to 1000 ppm, depending on which model is being used (5).

Methane is also a very important greenhouse gas and since it is 25 times more potent as a greenhouse gas than carbon dioxide, increases in methane emissions is cause for concern. The natural range of atmospheric methane concentrations over the past 650,000 years is 320-790 ppb (5). In the early 1990s, the global atmospheric concentration of methane increased from ~715 ppb to 1732 ppb, increasing to ~1774 ppb in 2005 and ~1803 ppb in 2011 (5, 19). According to the NOAA, global average methane concentrations have started to increase in the Arctic since 2007 due to warm temperatures. The increase in global methane was significantly faster during 2014 than during 2007-2013.

1.3: Arctic Permafrost

The Arctic region covers more than 7 million km² and includes parts of Canada, Russia, Alaska, Greenland, Iceland and Scandinavia (20). The Arctic Circle is known for its long, dark, tremendously cold winters and short, cold summers that sometimes only last for 6 weeks per year. The coldest month in the Arctic is February, with surface air temperatures ranging from -20 to -40°C. The warmest month, July, has surface air temperatures ranging from 3-10°C. The Arctic has low total annual precipitation between 60-160 mm, mostly in the form of snow (21).

Since 1970, the upper few meters of permafrost have completely disappeared on peatlands in Scandinavia, Russia and Canada. Other areas with shallow layers of permafrost have completely thawed. The southern limit of permafrost has moved northward by 130 km in Quebec over the last 50 years, and by 30-80 km in western Russia between 1970 and 2005 (18). By the mid and late 21^{st} century, models predict that permafrost near the surface in the Arctic will shrink by 15-30% and 37-81% respectively resulting in the thawing of the upper few meters of the ground (19, 22). Over the 21^{st} century it is predicted that thawing permafrost will release 50-250 gigatonnes of carbon (GtC) due to the release of CO₂ and CH₄ (19).

Permafrost covers about 24% of the Arctic (20); it is ground (soil, rock or sediment) that has been frozen for at least 2 years (23); however, most permafrost is far older, with the oldest permafrost, found in Antarctica, dated to ~20Ma (24) and the oldest in North America dated to ~740,000 ya (25). Within the permafrost, frozen water holds the soil, rock or sediment together forming an impermeable ice layer that shapes the landscape (18). Permafrost regions usually occur at high latitudes and high elevations

with some areas more than 1000 m deep; the thickness ranges from 100-500 m in North America, and greater than 500 m in Siberia (21, 26).

Permafrost is prominently affected by seasonal temperature variations. When the air temperature rises above 0°C in the summer, a thin layer on the ground surface, known as the active layer (about 30-60 cm thick), seasonally thaws and the temperature of the top 10 m of ground (composed of the active layer and upper permafrost) increases by more than 1°C (21, 23, 27). The boundary between the active layer and permafrost is known as the permafrost table and it acts as a physical and biogeochemical barrier that significantly reduces the exposure of permafrost to surface water (27).

Arctic permafrost has a mean annual temperature of -10°C with a temperature range from 0°C to -17°C (27). Arctic permafrost has low water, nitrogen, potassium and phosphorus contents and variable pH due to the different origins of the soils (parent material) (21, 28-30). In addition, Arctic permafrost has carbon stores that range between 4 - 110kg C m⁻² (31, 32). Permafrost oxygen and nitrogen concentrations are similar to atmospheric concentrations, while methane and carbon dioxide are present at concentrations much higher than in the atmosphere (27, 33). The high concentrations of methane and carbon dioxide are mainly due to the microbial degradation of soil organic carbon in permafrost, which will be further discussed in the upcoming sections.

1.3.1: North American Permafrost

Based on the percentage of underlying permafrost, the North American permafrost region is divided into four zones: the continuous permafrost zone (90-100%), the discontinuous permafrost zone (50-90%), the sporadic permafrost zone (10-50%) and the isolated patches permafrost zone (0-10%) (34). These permafrost zones cover three main ecological regions: the Arctic (north of the Arctic tree line), the Subarctic (composed of coniferous, open canopy forests) and the Boreal (composed of coniferous or coniferous and deciduous, closed canopy forests) (3).

The soils of the permafrost region of North America are a net sink of 11 metric tonnes of carbon per year and contain 213 Gt of organic carbon, which accounts for 61% of the carbon in all North American soil (4). Approximately 58% of the soil in the North American permafrost region is composed of permafrost-affected soil (soil composed of organic or mineral material with permafrost within 1 or more meters below the surface (23)), of which 83% is permafrost-affected mineral soils and 17% is permafrost-affected organic soils (peatlands) (3). Although organic soils cover a smaller area than mineral soils, they contain about 54% of the region's soil organic carbon (3).

1.3.2: Permafrost and Global Warming

Permafrost contains more than twice the amount of carbon currently in the atmosphere (2). It is predicted that global warming could thaw 25% of the Arctic permafrost by 2100 (10). When the surface temperature increases due to global warming, permafrost-affected mineral and organic soils will thaw resulting in the release of the sequestered organic matter. This will make it more accessible for aerobic and anaerobic microbial decomposition. Furthermore, this will increase the positive feedback of global warming by the release of greenhouse gasses such as carbon dioxide and methane (3).

Several studies have been carried out to observe how the permafrost microbial community will respond to thawing. Metagenomic analysis of permafrost that has been incubated at 5°C for 1 week was used to generate a conceptual model of carbon and nitrogen cycling when permafrost thaws. In this model, methanogenesis occurs in

permafrost and active layer soils at slow rates by cold-adapted methanogens. The methane accumulates in permafrost; when the permafrost thaws, some of that methane is released into the environment and some is consumed by methanotrophs. In addition, as the permafrost thaws, the trapped organic carbon becomes available for microbial degradation and methanogenesis, resulting in the production and release of carbon dioxide and methane into the environment (9, 35, 36). A twelve year incubation study of permafrost soil from Greenland showed a loss of carbon due to microbial decomposition from 9-75% of the initial content, depending on drainage following thawing (37). A three-pool carbon model generated based on this study showed that over the next 50 years of incubation, permafrost carbon pools may lose up to 92% of the initial carbon content under aerobic conditions and 6% under anaerobic conditions (37). Permafrost-affected soils from across the Arctic also showed a similarly high potential for organic carbon microbial degradation upon permafrost thaw, with permafrost carbon pools losing up to 76% of the initial carbon content over the 40 years of incubation (38). Model forecasting by CCLM4 showed that over the next century 24-44% of nitrogen stores in permafrost will be degraded upon thaw depending on the warming scenario followed (39).

1.3.3: Permafrost Carbon Feedback

Terrestrial systems act as carbon sinks and sources, with terrestrial permafrost being one of the largest carbon reservoirs on Earth that is highly susceptible to global warming (40). Permafrost in northern latitudes contain about one third of the global soil carbon (41). The top 3 meters of permafrost contain half of the frozen organic matter and the remaining is in extremely localized deposits that can spread down to 30 meters deep (2). Organic carbon stores in permafrost originate from the ecosystem that occupied the

territory at the time of freezing. Flood plain sedimentation, dust deposition and peat development caused the burying and freezing of plant and animal remains along with other organic material into permafrost during and since the last ice age (40, 42, 43). This burial process is further accelerated by cryoturbation, the vertical mixing of soil during freeze/thaw cycles (42). Since permafrost temperatures are very low, plant and animal remains within these sediments are not decomposed and so they slowly build up to contribute to permafrost's carbon content (40).

The amplification of anthropogenic warming due to carbon emissions from permafrost thaw is known as the permafrost carbon feedback (PCF). When permafrost thaws due to increasing temperatures, the trapped organic matter will be released and consumed by permafrost microorganisms, releasing CO₂ and CH₄ into the atmosphere, in turn amplifying global warming (40, 44). An analysis of estimates indicates that PCF will produce 120 ± 85 Gt of carbon emissions by 2100 increasing global temperatures by 0.29 ± 0.21 °C (i.e. $7.8 \pm 5.7\%$) (45).

Methane. Precipitation and thawed snow cause flooding of permafrost soils and the accumulation of water just above the permafrost table. This water table (where the water accumulates) results in anaerobic conditions where the degradation of soil organic matter (SOM) can only be carried out by anaerobic microorganisms. The presence of carbon dioxide, hydrogen and/or acetate, products that are derived from SOM degradation, are essential for methane production (methanogenesis) by methanogenic Archaea (46). Since microbial fermentation of carbon is much slower than oxidative respiration, organic matter accumulates due to persistent anaerobic conditions and low temperatures in permafrost soils (46).

While some of the methane produced by the methanogenic Archaea in the water table escapes into the atmosphere, the majority diffuses to the upper oxic soil horizons of permafrost soils where it is oxidized by aerobic methane-oxidizing bacteria (46). Between 76 and 90% of the produced methane is oxidized by these methanotrophic bacteria, making biological oxidation a major methane sink in permafrost-affected soils (47).

Methanogenesis also occurs at very slow rates in permafrost by cold-adapted methanogens. Over time, this methane accumulates in permafrost. When permafrost thaws some of this trapped methane is released into the atmosphere and some is consumed by bacterial methanotrophs (9).

Carbon dioxide. While photosynthesis plays an important role in turning permafrost into a carbon dioxide sink, microbial activity in the aerobic active layer, just above the water table, turns permafrost into a source of carbon dioxide. Under aerobic conditions, SOM is respired into carbon dioxide by aerobic soil microorganisms. In addition, methane oxidation by methanotrophic bacteria also results in the release of carbon dioxide from permafrost (46).

Long-term effects of permafrost thaw are not yet understood and we are unable to predict how microbes will use the newly available soil organic matter released by permafrost thawing (17, 48). If most of the organic matter stored in permafrost is challenging to degrade, then this recalcitrant pool of carbon will slowly encourage microbial growth and greenhouse gas production. On the other hand, if the carbon is more labile (e.g. frozen plant litter), the carbon will be readily available for rapid

microbial degradation (48). A recent study showed an increase in CO₂ release from deeper permafrost thawing (44). Permafrost warming will not only affect soil temperature, but will also affect soil hydrology. Soil moisture will increase due to thawing ice in permafrost, resulting in anaerobic conditions favoring the production of CH₄ over CH₄ oxidation (49). Permafrost with low ice content will show the opposite results, with possible higher methanotrophic activity and lower methanogenic activity.

1.3.4: Permafrost Microorganisms

Microorganisms in permafrost are capable of surviving over extended time periods in an extreme environment with continuous subzero temperature, low water activity, low nutrient availability and constant exposure to ground radiation (33, 50). Despite these conditions, a significant abundance and diversity of microorganisms are present in permafrost samples from across the Arctic (50). Viable microorganisms have even been purported to survive for hundreds of thousands of years within permafrost (6, 7). The total number of microorganisms found in permafrost can be as high as 10^9 cells per gram, and the number of viable microorganisms ranges between $10^2 - 10^8$ cells per gram (27, 51-53).

Several studies of the microbial composition of Arctic permafrost have shown the presence of a vast bacterial diversity, much higher than the observed Archaea or fungal diversity. 16S rRNA gene high-throughput sequencing has shown that permafrost contains a wide variety of microbial metabolic groups, including methanogens (acetoclastic and hydrogenotrophic), methanotrophs, endospore formers, cellulose degraders, aerobic and anaerobic heterotrophs, sulfate and iron reducers, and nitrifying and nitrogen fixing bacteria (17, 20, 27, 54).

Highly variable microbial diversity and composition have been found in different permafrost sites, mostly due to different soil and ice conditions that affect where microorganisms can survive in the permafrost. Microorganisms can survive and actively grow in particular areas within permafrost (17). Cryopegs are ancient, closed, aquatic ecosystems found in permafrost. These brine lenses have high salt concentrations that allow them to remain in a liquid state at below freezing temperatures enabling them to act as a habitat for permafrost microorganisms (55). Microbial metabolism was detected in cryopegs at temperatures as low as -15°C; in addition, most probable number analysis detected sulfate reducers, methanogens, acetogens, aerobic and anaerobic heterotrophs (55). Microbial life is also supported in liquid brine veins that form in permafrost ice wedges. Ice wedges are ancient ice that forms due to repeated frost cracking cycles that result in the infiltration of meltwater, snow, and soil into the frost cracks. Brine veins are lines of liquid water with high salt concentrations that form within ice wedges allowing microorganisms to concentrate from the surrounding freezing water (56). Aerobic and facultatively anaerobic bacteria were isolated from a 25,000-year-old permafrost ice wedge; isolates belonged to Actinobacteria, Bacilli and Gammaproteobacteria classes (56). Another habitat within permafrost that can support microbial life is frost boils. Frost boils are small patches of barren or lightly vegetated soil that form due to frost heave, the upward protrusion of soil by water freezing in the soil (57). Depending on the carbon and nitrogen concentrations and the amount of drainage, a heterogeneous microbial composition can be found in frost boils (57).

The use of culture-independent over dependent techniques to study permafrost microbiology has been an ongoing debate. Both methods have indicated that permafrost

accommodates diverse and novel microbial communities (50). Although a wide range of microorganisms have been discovered in permafrost using cultivation-dependent techniques, cultured isolates represent a small proportion of the microbial community. Approximately 0.1-10% and 0.001-0.01% of direct cell counts can be recovered during cultivation of Arctic and Antarctic permafrost, respectively (50). Cultivation-dependent techniques are insufficient to characterize the viable microbial community since simply finding that an organism is viable when cultured does not necessarily imply that they are active, abundant or significant in situ (58). In several cases, cultivation-dependent techniques have shown different microbial communities with differing dominance from cultivation-independent ones (59-61). These differences could be due to biases introduced by DNA extraction and amplification, difficulties in cultivating permafrost bacteria, or the presence of non-viable cells. To address these shortcomings, cultivation-independent techniques must also be performed but that still doesn't mean that cultivationindependent techniques don't have their own limitations. A major challenge of using cultivation-independent techniques to study microorganisms in permafrost is the low biomass. Different types of permafrost seem to have a very wide range of bacterial abundance with counts ranging from 10^5 - 10^8 cells per gram of dry mass (17, 62). Another drawback of studying microorganisms in permafrost is the fact that permafrost's freezing temperature is ideal for preserving DNA for long periods of time; therefore, not all extracted DNA is coming from active or viable cells.

1.3.4.1: Microbial activity in permafrost

Some microorganisms have been shown to actively metabolize in permafrost, albeit at very low rates (17). Exceptionally low microbial activity in permafrost could still enormously influence the geochemistry and geophysics of perennially frozen ground on a geological time scale of 1,000 to 10,000 years (63). In active layer soils, microbial activity could be essential for biochemical transformations that result in the reestablishment of soil fertility (63).

Several environmental factors constrain microbial activity at sub-zero temperatures, including low water availability, low temperature (i.e. low kinetic energy of reactants), gamma radiation causing long-term damage, and low soil porosity (affecting diffusion rates within frozen soils) (63). Despite these obstacles, some microorganisms survive in permafrost; two ecological strategies are believed to explain their ability to survive these harsh conditions. One strategy is entry into a dormant resting state, e.g. a spore, which makes the cells resistant to the multiple insults of a cold environment. A second strategy is to metabolize at a minimal rate (64). It has been argued that having a slow metabolism is a much better strategy to survive over long time periods (decades to centuries) in frozen environments such as permafrost, since dormant cells have no active DNA repair, resulting in the degradation of their genomes with time (6).

Recent studies have shown that most permafrost microorganisms are capable of survival, maintenance and even growth at sub-zero temperatures (17). Under carefully controlled laboratory conditions, Panikov *et al.* measured CO₂ and ¹⁴CO₂ release from ¹⁴C-glucose amended and intact permafrost at temperatures ranging from 0 to -33°C for a year (65). CO₂ production rates were found to exponentially decline with temperature but remained positive at -39°C. Microbial activity in Alaskan permafrost was also detected using stable isotope probing to detect the incorporation of ¹³C-acetate into bacterial DNA (66). About 80% of the detected operational taxonomic units (OTUs) synthesized ¹³C-

labeled DNA at temperatures ranging from 0 to -20°C. Interestingly, phylogenetic analysis of the ¹³C-labeled 16S rRNA gene revealed that some bacterial community members were active (able to grow/synthesize DNA) across the full range of temperature tested, while others were only active at sub-zero temperatures. These 'sub-zero active bacteria' were members of the *Acidobacteria, Actinobacteria, Chloroflexi, Gemmatimonadetes* and *Proteobacteria* phyla (66). Mineralization of [1-¹⁴C] acetic acid and [2-¹⁴C] glucose was measured in permafrost from the Canadian Arctic from Eureka, Ellesmere Island, Nunavut (67). Mineralization was detected at temperatures as low as -15°C (near ambient permafrost temperature) (67).

Metabolic activity of Siberian permafrost collected from the Kolyma-Indigirka Lowland was determined by measuring the incorporation of ¹⁴C-labelled acetate into lipids. Acetate incorporation curves were observed to be similar to typical growth curves, indicating that acetate incorporation could be considered as an indirect measure of growth. Metabolic activity of Siberian permafrost bacteria was observed at temperatures as low as -20°C (68). In addition, metabolic activity of hydrogenotrophic and acetoclastic methanogens was measured by monitoring methanogenesis. Methane production was observed to occur in Kolyma lowland permafrost over a wide range of temperatures (5°C to -16.5°C) (33). The highest rate of methane production was detected at 5°C; the rate of methane formation was reduced by 2-fold as the temperature was lowered to -2°C; a 100fold reduction was noted as the temperature fell from -2°C to -16.5°C (33). It is important to note that although methanogenesis was occurring at a very low rate at temperatures as low as -16.5°C, methane was being produced nonetheless.

Methanotrophic activity was also observed in another study where activity was detected in Siberian permafrost by measuring the oxidation of ${}^{14}CH_4$ to ${}^{14}CO_2$ at -5°C. The highest rate of methane oxidation was observed in the upper permafrost boundary that occasionally thaws in warm years. On the other hand, deep permafrost layers (10,000 to 200,000 years old) showed methane oxidation rates that were one to two orders of magnitude lower than the upper permafrost boundary, but the rate of oxidation was still detectable (69). It is important to note that although several permafrost isolates have been shown to synthesize DNA and proteins at temperatures as low as -15°C, microbial growth thermodynamic models predict that metabolism can occur at temperatures as low as -40°C (70). Based on previously discussed studies, various microbial activities ranging from acetotrophy to methanogensis have been observed in permafrost ranging in temperature from 0°C to -15°C, with some indications that there may be microbial activities at even lower temperatures. It also appears that microbial activity may drop exponentially with permafrost age and temperature; thus, newer, warmer permafrost will have much higher activity than older, colder permafrost.

1.3.4.2: Microbial abundance

Culturable CFU counts for aerobic heterotrophic bacterial cells in permafrost from Eureka, Nunavut, Canada were 3.6×10^8 CFU per gram (67). Siberian permafrost also has very similar numbers for aerobic heterotrophic bacteria, with $10^7 - 10^8$ cells per gram of dry mass; however, the viable counts only accounted for 0.1 to 10% of that value (71). An aerobic viable bacterial cell count of 6.6×10^2 CFU/g was obtained from acidic wetland permafrost in Nunavut using culturing techniques (72). Based on these studies, it seems like the bacterial abundance in permafrost clearly differs from one to another. These differences could be mainly due to soil physiochemical characteristics along with several geographical biases.

Quantitative PCR of 16S rRNA gene copies of Canadian Arctic permafrost showed archaeal counts of 1.5×10^2 16S gene copy numbers per gram of soil (62). In permafrost from an acidic wetland, 2.8×10^4 16S archaeal gene copy numbers per gram of soil were detected (72). In both cases, the abundance of Archaea is orders of magnitude less than that of Bacteria but that could be due to lower 16S rRNA gene copy numbers in archaeal genomes than in bacterial genomes (73). This contrasts with more temperate soils, where Archaea are generally approximately 10% of the prokaryotic cells (50).

1.3.4.3: Microbial diversity

Bacterial diversity

Bacterial diversity is higher in permafrost than archaeal diversity. The culturable bacteria isolated from Arctic permafrost belonged to phyla *Firmicutes*, *Actinobacteria*, *Proteobacteria*, *Acidobacteria* and *Gemmatimonadetes*. In Canadian Arctic permafrost, the culturable bacteria isolated from permafrost were dominated by the spore-forming *Firmicutes*; the majority of the isolates were found to be psychrotolerant (about 83%) with some halo- and acidotolerant isolates as well (60). Genera cultured from Canadian Arctic permafrost include *Arthrobacter, Brachybacterium, Kocuria, Micrococcus, Rhodococcus, Flavobacterium, Staphylococcus, Clostridium, Virgibacillus, Pedobacter, Bacillus, Paenibacillus, Planococcus, Sporosarcina*, and *Pseudomonas* (60, 67, 72, 74, 75). The 16S rRNA gene clone libraries and quantitative PCR (qPCR), on the other

hand, displayed the presence of a much more diverse bacterial community with clones belonging to numerous phyla; however, the phylotypes were dominated by sequences related to *Actinobacteria* and *Proteobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes* with the majority of the *Proteobacteria* observed belonging to the *Betaproteobacteria* class(60, 62, 67). Metagenomic analysis and qPCR showed that Gammaproteobacterial methanotrophs were more dominant than Alphaproteobacterial methanotrophs; and detected Gammaproteobacterial methanotrophs related to *Methylococcaceae* (62). Interestingly, the majority of permafrost isolates are psychrotolerant rather than psychrophilic, which could imply their adaptation to the slightly warmer temperatures occurring in the Arctic (60).

In Siberian permafrost sediments (5,000 to 2-3 million years old), cultivation-dependent and -independent techniques revealed the presence of high and low G+C Gram-positive bacteria. The major phyla observed were *Firmicutes, Actinobacteria* and *Proteobacteria*; similar to those observed in the Canadian Arctic. According to several studies, bacterial genera cultured from Siberian permafrost include: *Arthrobacter, Cellulomonas, Microbacterium, Micrococcus, Promicromonospora, Rhodococcus, Streptomyces, Flavobacterium, Bacillus, Exiguobacterium, Paenibacillus, Planococcus, Planomicrobium, Sporosarcina, Aeromonas, Myxococcus, Psychrobacter,* and *Pseudomonas* (61, 76).

Based on these studies, cultivation-dependent techniques showed a much lower bacterial diversity and composition compared to cultivation-independent techniques. Permafrost from different regions shows highly similarly diverse

bacterial communities. It is important to note that similar bacterial compositions are observed in the majority of the permafrost samples, with some exceptions displaying the presence of bacteria unique to permafrost of a particular region. Based on previous studies, the commonly occurring bacterial phyla in Arctic permafrost include Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, Chloroflexi, Acidobacteria, Bacteroidetes and methanotrophic bacteria such as Methylobacter spp., Methylocella spp., Methylomonas spp., Methylosphaera spp. and Methylocapsa spp. (17, 51, 60, 62, 77-79). The dominance of these phyla suggests that they are capable of survival in cold conditions and are able to revive and grow at warmer temperatures. For instance, several Firmicutes members such as the Bacillaceae and Clostridiaceae families form spores aiding their survival in dire conditions (67). In addition, Actinobacteria members have a high GC content (65-69%) that has been shown to reduce DNA damage due to freezing temperature and high salinity and to maintain DNA repair (6). Uncharacterized or canadidate phyla have also been found to be abundant in permafrost. Uncharacterized Chloroflexi representatives were found to be ubiquitous in permafrost (9, 72, 78) as well as the candidate phylum AD3 that was observed in an Alaskan boreal forest in high abundance (78).

Archaeal Diversity

Not a lot of studies have been done on permafrost archaeal communities using cultivation-independent techniques. The majority of cultivation-independent characterizations of archaeal diversity are from Canadian high Arctic permafrost. The archaeal phyla *Euryarchaeota*, *Crenarchaeota* and *Thaumarchaeota* were identified in Arctic permafrost (9, 35, 60, 67, 78). The recovery of viable methanogens from permafrost suggests that permafrost is an adequate environment for methanogenesis (50).

Permafrost from the Canadian Arctic was dominated by the *Euryarchaeota* and/or *Crenarchaeota* phyla with the majority of the phylotypes related to halophilic Archaea (60, 62, 67, 72). Metagenomic analysis revealed sequences that were related to *Methanomicrobia, Methanobacteria, Methanococci* and *Methanopyri* (62). Siberian permafrost was found to be mostly composed of methanogenic species with a wide diversity that comprised *Methanomicrobiaceae, Methanosarcinaceae*, and *Methanosaetaceae* families (80, 81).

1.3.5: Permafrost microorganisms and climate change

Recently, permafrost microbial ecology has been intensively studied in order to address concerns about the impact of permafrost thaw on microbial decomposition of trapped organic matter, that will possibly lead to the release of greenhouse gases (CO_2 , CH_4 , and N_2O) (17).

Not a lot of work has been done to study permafrost microbial communities and very little is known about these microbial communities' response to permafrost thaw. Microbial communities have been predicted to rapidly respond to permafrost thaw due to the availability of trapped organic matter and vast carbon stores for microbial degradation (9). Mackelprang *et al.* used a deep metagenomic sequencing approach along with methane gas release/oxidation. After only 2 days of permafrost thaw at 5°C, a burst of methane was observed that originated from methane trapped in frozen permafrost. This burst was followed by methane oxidation by methanotrophic bacteria indicating dynamic

methane levels in thawing permafrost. Metagenomic sequencing suggested that the transition from a frozen to a thawed state resulted in rapid shifts in microbial community composition and functional gene abundances. Noteworthy changes that were observed during permafrost thaw were the significant increase in Actinobacteria, bacterial type II methanotrophs, the particulate methane monooxygenase enzyme (*pmoA*) and nitrogen cycling genes.

While the active layer metagenomes were similar to each other before and after thaw, the frozen permafrost samples were dramatically different before thaw but they then rapidly converged to look more like the active layers. The active layers and permafrost samples had significantly different functional gene composition with discrepancies in some major metabolic pathways such as amino-acid transport, anaerobic respiration, energy metabolism, nitrogen fixation and oxidative phosphorylation (9).

Previous studies also undergoing laboratory simulated permafrost thaw have shown a shift in the microbial community, phylogenetic and functional gene abundances, exoenzyme activities, transcriptional response and metabolic diversity (9-12). This rapid shift observed in the microbial community composition of laboratory simulated permafrost thaw could have been due to either an actual shift in the microbial community structure, or due to the co-extraction of preserved DNA from dead cells. This non-viable DNA could be rapidly degraded by low abundance, viable microorganisms after thaw.

On the other hand, *in situ* warming experiments have shown only minor changes in microbial community composition (13-16). In previous field warming experiments, either a strong lag in the response of soil microbial communities was observed (16) or changes in microbial communities were accompanied by parallel changes in soil edaphic

properties (primarily pH; (82, 83)) (Table 4). To resolve this discrepancy, one can study how microbial communities responded to rapid climate change in the past, which will in turn provide insight into the changes that the soil community will experience in this modern era of climate change. The most recent event of rapid climate change occurred ca. 12,600-10,200 cal BP at the Pleistocene-Holocene boundary.

1.3.5.1: Beringia in the Quaternary

Quaternary history has been determined by events that occurred a very long time ago. Eight million years ago, the Indian plate traveling north impacted the southern edge of Asia driving up the Himalayan-Tibetan plateau that affected the atmospheric circulation in the Northern Hemisphere (84, 85). Atmospheric and oceanic circulation changed even more due to the uplift of mountains and the surfacing of the Isthmus of Panama (84, 86). In addition, abnormalities in the earth's orbit and the way it vibrates as it rotates on its axis resulted in periods of more or less solar radiation than typical (84, 87). These changes along with the solar radiation cycles caused the onset of glaciations in the Northern Hemisphere (84). The Quaternary is a geological time period that is subdivided into the Pleistocene (1.7 million years ago) and postglacial Holocene (11,700 years ago) epochs (84, 88). At the end of the Pliocene, the Earth's climate became more sensitive to CO₂-based radiative forcing, ending the warm Pliocene epoch and initiating the cold Pleistocene epoch (89).

The earth's climate during the Pleistocene cycled from glacial conditions, with ice caps forming over North America and northern Europe, to interglacial conditions with limited ice cover and a warm climate (84). The glacial and interglacial stages are further subdivided into stadials (cold periods shorter than glacials) and interstadials (mild periods

shorter than interglacials) (90). It has been estimated that there were between 30 - 50glacial/interglacial cycles throughout the Quaternary period (90). In Beringia, the region from eastern Siberia to central Yukon, summer temperature for the last glacial period was about 6.4°C colder and interglacial period was about 3.5°C warmer than present temperatures (91). During glacial periods, Beringia, particularly the Yukon, was arid with very low winter snow depth (84); soil was beneficial for grazing animals with high mineral content, high pH, low organic matter, surface salts, well drained, rapid nutrient turnover and deeper permafrost (92, 93). On the other hand, interglacial soil had lower pH, was poorly drained, had low nutrient turnover, and had high insulating organic matter resulting in colder soil and shallower permafrost tables (93). A megafauna mostly composed of grazers and predators such as the short-faced bear and lion existed in the Yukon portion of Beringia during the last glaciation in the Pleistocene (84). Several studies have shown that the Yukon was treeless and vegetated by Arctic-steppe, steppetundra, or herbaceous tundra during glacials and by mosses, sedges and shrubs during the interglacials (84, 93).

At the end of the Pleistocene, about 13,000 years ago, the Arctic suddenly plunged back into glacial conditions known as the Younger Dryas stadial (90). The Pleistocene-Holocene transition began from the Younger Dryas. Previous records showed that this return to cold conditions took place in less than 100 years with some areas being characterized by cool-moist conditions while other by cool-dry (94-98). The warming phase that occurred at the end of the Younger Dryas, about 11,000 years ago, lasted only 1,300 years, causing central Greenland temperatures to increase by 7°C or more in only a few decades (90). Concurrently with the end of the Younger Dryas, numerous large
animals went extinct in the Beringia region, including giant ground sloths, camelids, horses, mammoths, ancient bison and mastodons (99).

Following the abrupt end of the Younger Dryas, the Arctic entered the Holocene epoch. During the Holocene, Beringia experienced thousands of years of conditions that were drier, with 40% less moisture, and warmer than today (90, 100). Between 11 - 10 thousand years ago, at the end of the Pleistocene and the beginning of the Holocene, precipitation increased along with the temperature (93). During the early and mid Holocene, summers in most of the Arctic were $1-2^{\circ}C$ warmer than present (90). These changes resulted in the recession of glaciers, lowering of river levels, shrinking of vast lakes, desiccation of land, spread of birch shrub tundra along with the disappearance of the mammoth steppe and further the extinction of the Pleistocene megafauna (101). Holocene climate was much more stable and warmer than the late Pleistocene although there were numerous cold intervals that lasted for centuries in the mid and late Holocene (102).

Palaeoclimatic studies based on globally distributed proxy records have shown several global abrupt climate changes throughout the Late Quaternary. Such a period may have transpired in 50 years or less during the late Pleistocene to early Holocene transition, leading to highly dynamic and unstable landscapes (103, 104).

Understanding the sinks and sources of greenhouse gases, such as methane, in thawing permafrost is very important since balancing between methane oxidation and methanogenesis will help provide a better picture of permafrost's role on climate feedback (17). The inability to distinguish between DNA from viable and dead microorganisms (9, 72) could potentially lead to misunderstanding biogeochemical

processes in permafrost; thus, it is critical to distinguish between viable and non-viable sources of DNA in order to understand the organisms underlying carbon and nutrient cycling in permafrost.

1.4: Live/Dead Microbial Cell Distinction

When an organisms dies, the DNA is unstable. The DNA is rapidly degraded into short DNA fragments and is extensively modified by temperature-dependent hydrolytic, oxidative and alkaline processes (105). These spontaneous processes result in the accumulation of strand breaks, base modifications and crosslinks (106). Such processes are highly dependent on temperature, pH, oxygen-free radicals and free water (107, 108). Since reaction rates decrease by approximately an order of magnitude for every 10°C drop in temperature, and because free water concentrations are low, cold environments such as permafrost are excellent archives storing DNA for an extended period of time (109, 110). Ancient environmental DNA of plants, mammals, insects, fungi and bacteria have been discovered in permafrost (6, 106, 110-113).

Studying the microbial ecology of permafrost is especially problematic since some microorganisms remain viable and active within the permafrost (6, 7, 66). Extinct microbial communities can provide insights into the evolutionary and ecological characteristics of microorganism that lived in previous geological epochs (7), while extant microbial communities can provide insight into adaptation to soil conditions resulting from climate changes in past epochs and to the extreme conditions found within the permafrost. Therefore, it is critical to distinguish between DNA originating from extant and extinct microorganisms in permafrost (114).

A major criterion that allows the distinction between live and dead cells is cell membrane integrity. Viable and active microorganisms have intact cell membranes while dead/damaged cells have compromised membranes. Unlike dead cells, live cells can exclude DNA-binding dyes (115). Microscopy and flow cytometry were the most commonly used methods for the discrimination of live-dead microbial cells using propidium iodide as the membrane-impermeable dye (116). Other methods include CTC or tetrazolium reduction to detect cell respiration; use of hydrophilic DNA-binding dyes to detect cells with compromised membrane integrity; amino acid or nucleic acid incorporation to measure bulk activity; stable isotope probing, cellular RNA concentrations or RNA to DNA ratios to detect active nucleic acid synthesis (6, 117-120). Although these approaches allow the quantitation and identification of living and dead cells; they do not enable the extraction of DNA for subsequent genetic or metagenomic characterization.

A newer method combining membrane-impermeable dyes with PCR allows faster and more sensitive live-dead cell discrimination. Propidium monoazide (PMA) is used as the DNA-intercalating agent. When incubated with microbial cells/environmental sample, PMA bound to DNA in dead cells with compromised cell membranes and free DNA. Upon exposure to light at 460 nm, PMA becomes covalently bound to DNA. This lightinduced cross-linking to DNA inhibits PCR amplification (115). PMA-PCR has been tested with artificial bacterial cultures, aquatic systems and fecal samples for medical and environmental research (115, 121-123). However, this approach has not been used extensively in soils (or soil-like environments) and the few papers did not fully optimize the method (62).

Some complexities that arise when treating soil with PMA include blocking of light penetration by soil particles and adsorbance of PMA by soil particles. To apply PMA treatments to my permafrost samples, I attempt to address these issues by optimizing a method for using PMA in soils to eliminate ancient/environmental DNA to be able to better assess the observed microbial diversity.

1.5: Diversity Indicators

Diversity measurements play a crucial role in understanding microbial community structure and dynamics, with species as the fundamental unit of analysis (124). Diversity within a community (α diversity) is identified using the species richness (number of species) and species evenness (relative abundance of species) (124). Measuring α diversity allows the comparison of different communities based on total diversity (124). Species-based measures could be quantitative, such as Chao 1 (125), abundance-based coverage estimators (ACE) (126), Shannon index (127) or Simpson index (128).

Non-parametric estimators, like Chao 1 and ACE, are the most reliable for measuring microbial community richness. These estimators are based on mark-releaserecapture (MRR) statistics where the proportion of species recaptured (i.e. observed before) to those captured only once is determined(129). In a highly diverse community, there is a low probability that a species will be observed more than once with most species being represented by only one individual(129). In a community with low diversity, there is a high probability that a species will be observed more than once with most species observed multiple times in a sample (129). Chao 1 estimates species richness as

$$S_{Chaol} = S_{obs} + \frac{n_1^2}{2n_2} \qquad (Eqn \ 1)$$

where S_{obs} is the number of observed species, n_1 is the number of singletons (species captured once) and n_2 is the number of doubletons (species captured twice) (125).

While Chao1 focuses on species with one or 2 individual, ACE incorporates data from all species with less than 10 individuals (126). ACE estimates species richness as

$$S_{ACE} = S_{abund} + \frac{S_{rare}}{C_{ACE}} + \frac{F_1}{C_{ACE}} \gamma_{ACE}^2 \qquad (Eqn \ 2)$$

where S_{abund} is the number of abundant species (abundance >10), S_{rare} is the number of rare species (abundance <10). The total number of species observed is the sum of S_{abund} and S_{rare} . C_{ACE} is the sample coverage where

$$C_{ACE} = 1 - \frac{F_1}{N_{rare}} \qquad (Eqn \ 3)$$

 F_1 is the number of species with *i* individuals and

$$N_{rare} = \sum_{i=1}^{10} iF_i \qquad (Eqn \ 4)$$

Shannon (H') and Simpson (D) indices are commonly used to measure species diversity in a community. These diversity indices take both, species richness and evenness into account. The Shannon index assumes that all species are represented within a sample and that they are all randomly sampled; it measures entropy, so higher entropy means a higher diversity (127). It is calculated as

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{s} p_i \ln p_i \qquad (Eqn \ 5)$$

where *s* is the number of species observed and *p* is the proportion of individuals belonging to the *i*th species. p = n/N where n is the number of individuals of one species and N is the total number of individuals.

The Simpson index, on the other hand, is a dominance index since it gives dominant species more weight; therefore, rare species with a few individuals will not affect the diversity (128). It measures the probability that two randomly selected individuals belong to the same species by

$$\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{s} p_i^2} \qquad (Eqn \ 6)$$

where *s* is the number of species observed and *p* is the proportion of individuals belonging to the *i*th species. p = n/N where n is the number of individuals of one species and N is the total number of individuals (128). Simpsons's index is usually reported as it's compliment (1–D) or it's inverse (1/D).

1.6: Research Project

Although there have been several cultivation-independent studies of permafrost microbial communities, only a few take into account the presence of environmental DNA and dead cells in permafrost along with viable and active cells. This makes it difficult to distinguish DNA from active microorganisms that play a significant role in shaping the permafrost environment from DNA released into the environment from dead microorganisms that are no longer part of the permafrost microbial community.

In addition, previous studies look at different depths of permafrost, but none have recognized that permafrost depth is a proxy for time. Studying microbial communities of permafrost from different ages can shed some light as to how microbial communities changed over time, especially after abrupt climate changes that occurred at the end of the Pleistocene era.

1.6.1: Hypothesis and Predictions

<u>I hypothesize that the abrupt change in climate and the resulting change in</u> <u>edaphic soil parameters at the Pleistocene/Holocene boundary resulted in a dramatic shift</u> <u>in the composition of viable microbial communities in permafrost.</u> Based on this hypothesis, I predict that a) the permafrost viable microbial communities in the same era (Pleistocene or Holocene) are significantly more similar in composition than between eras, regardless of the ages of the soils, b) the shift in the viable microbial communities from the Pleistocene to the Holocene era will lead to a shift in the flux of the greenhouse gases CO_2 and CH_4 when permafrost thaws.

1.6.2: Research objectives

This project aims to answer three main questions: 1) how does the microbial community adapt in permafrost over long periods of time, 2) how does the active permafrost microbial community respond to different edaphic soil parameters caused by climate change, and finally 3) how does the active permafrost microbial community affect greenhouse gas flux upon permafrost thaw?

I compared the viable bacterial community composition in permafrost of different ages from the Pleistocene and Holocene epochs to determine how the permafrost microbial community adapts over long periods of time. Permafrost samples were treated with PMA before DNA extraction to inhibit the PCR amplification of DNA from nonviable cells. Sequence analysis of DNA from viable cells will allow the comparison of the

extant communities from different time points within a single era. By comparing the bacterial composition of different time points, the changes that occurred in the bacterial communities over time can be determined in addition to how rapidly/slowly the bacterial community adapted.

CHAPTER 2: DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN VIABLE AND DEAD MICROBES IN MODERN AND ANCIENT PERMAFROST SAMPLES

2.1: Introduction

Several methods have been developed to allow the distinction between viable and dead bacterial cells. These methods include nucleic acid or amino acid incorporation or frequency of dividing cells to measure bulk activity; use of hydrophilic DNA-binding dyes to detect cells with compromised membrane integrity; tetrazolium or CTC reduction to detect cell respiration; stable isotope probing or cellular RNA concentrations or RNA to DNA ratios to detect active nucleic acid synthesis; and amplification of long DNA fragments that are absent in dead cells (6, 117, 118, 120, 130). However, these methods either do not isolate DNA from viable cells (e.g. bulk activity, DNA-binding dyes, or cell respiration) or are most useful in environments with high microbial activity (e.g. active nucleic acid synthesis) (118) and thus cannot be used in permafrost.

Membrane-impermeant intercalating agents coupled to a monoazide residue, i.e. ethidium monoazide (EMA) (131) or propidium monoazide (PMA) (121) have been used to eliminate DNA from dead cells. When incubated with environmental samples, these agents bind to free DNA and DNA in cells with compromised membranes. Upon light exposure, the azide group becomes covalently cross-linked to the DNA, inhibiting PCR amplification and leading to insolubility and removal during extraction (132). The intercalating agent is excluded from viable cells by the intact membrane; thus, only DNA from living cells is extracted and successfully PCR amplified (133). Although EMA was used initially, PMA is preferred due to its higher charge that allows it to be more readily excluded from cells with intact membranes (115, 132).

While PMA treatment works well in bacterial cultures and aquatic systems (115, 121-123, 132) solid substrates such as soils, sediments, and foods are complex environments that pose difficulties for PMA treatment. For example, particles may prevent exposure to light, thereby preventing dye cross-linking to DNA (123). Most other studies that have successfully optimized PMA treatments in solid media either focused on the discrimination of viable and dead cells from a few taxa rather than the whole microbial community or worked with samples with high microbial activity and abundance (121, 123, 134).

Here, we optimize PMA treatment in pure cultures, inoculated sterile sand, and inoculated sterile soil. This improved protocol is useful for characterization of viable microbial communities in low cell abundance and low biological activity solid substrates such as permafrost and other extreme contaminant-impacted soils and sediments as well as treated foods.

2.2: Materials and Methods

2.2.1: Bacterial strains

PMA treatments were initially optimized with mixtures of live and/or dead pure bacterial strains under various treatment conditions. Two bacterial strains, *Escherichia coli* (ATCC 12014) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (ATCC 10145), were grown in Luria-Bertani (LB) broth (Difco Laboratories, USA) overnight at 37°C with shaking at 175 rpm. To kill cells, cultures in 1X PBS (137mM NaCl, 2.7mM KCl, 10mM Na₂HPO₄, 2mM KH₂PO₄) were incubated at 85°C for 20 min. Cell death was confirmed by reincubating in LB broth and by streaking 5µl of the cell suspension on LB agar plates and

incubating at 37°C overnight; no growth was observed with heat-inactivated cells. Equal volumes (500 μ l) of stocks (ca. 10⁶ cells ml⁻¹) were mixed and centrifuged at 16,000*xg* for 2 min to pellet the cells. The supernatant was discarded and the cells were re-suspended in 500 μ l of 1X PBS.

2.2.2: PMA treatment and lab optimization tests

The following cells were mixed for liquid suspension or added to 1 g of sterile sand or sterile soil (collected from the University of Alberta grounds): live E. coli, live P. aeruginosa (LELP); live E. coli, dead P. aeruginosa (LEDP); dead E. coli, live P. aeruginosa (DELP); or dead E. coli, dead P. aeruginosa (DEDP). Genomic DNA from each strain (isolated via the FastDNA Spin Kit for Soil (MP Biomedicals, Santa Ana, CA USA)) was also tested under the same treatment conditions. Prior to inoculation, sand and soil were sterilized with 10% bleach, reduced with 1M sodium thiosulfate, washed with distilled water, and autoclaved (135). Inoculated soil or sand samples were diluted 10^{-1} , 10^{-2} , 10^{-3} , or 10^{-4} (wt/vol) in sterile PBS. Following inoculation with the cells and dilution, either 0, 0.01, 0.02, 0.03 or 0.04 mM propidium monoazide (PMA; Biotium Inc., Hayward, CA USA) in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO; Sigma-Aldrich Co., St. Louis, MO USA) was added. Samples were incubated in the dark for 10 min with vigorous shaking every 2 min. PMA was cross-linked to DNA with a 500W halogen lamp (Globe Electric, Quebec, Canada) by placing the samples 20 cm from the light source for 10 min on ice. Dark controls were included for all treatments. All subsequent samples were diluted 1:1000 in sterile PBS and treated with 0.04 mM PMA.

2.2.3: DNA Extraction

Four replicates of each sample were diluted and combined during filtration on to a 47mm diameter, 0.2µm pore size polysulfone (Supor) filter (Pall Corporation, USA) before DNA extraction. Genomic DNA was extracted from 500 µl of overnight culture of strains, liquid suspensions of mixed test cultures, or soil or sand filters using the FastDNA Spin Kit for Soil according to manufacturer's instructions (MP Biomedicals, Santa Ana, CA), with adjustments. DNA extractions had the following adjustments: the samples were homogenized for 45 s at 4,500 rpm twice; after adding the Binding Matrix suspension, the samples were placed in a rotor to allow DNA to bind for 15 min; the tubes were centrifuged for 1 min at 14,000xg to collect beads; after spinning, the supernatant was completely removed prior to re-suspension; and ethanol in the spin filter was evaporated by incubating the tubes in a heat block at 70°C for 10-15 min.

2.2.4: Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis

To determine if DNA from dead cells was present following optimization of PMA protocols, we amplified the V3 variable region of the 16S rRNA gene from the PMA-treated and untreated genomic DNA, PBS only, sand, and soil samples using primers 341F and 518R as previously described (136). The 16S rRNA gene PCR products were digested as instructed by the manufacturer (New England Biolabs, Whitby, Ontario, Canada) using the restriction enzyme *MspA1I*, chosen using the Webcutter program (137) to discriminate between *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa*. RFLP products were detected by agarose gel electrophoresis as previously reported (138).

2.3: Results

For pure genomic DNA, no PCR amplification was detected following treatment at any PMA concentration (Table 1), while untreated genomic DNA was successfully PCR amplified (data not shown).

16S rRNA genes were PCR amplified for all mixtures of cell culture liquid suspensions (LELP, LEDP, DELP, and DEDP) at 0.01 mM PMA. However, at higher PMA concentrations, PCR products were only generated for samples with live cells (LELP, LEDP, and DELP); no PCR product was obtained for DEDP (Table 1). Mixtures of cell culture liquid suspensions not treated with PMA showed successful PCR amplification (Table 1).

To test the effect of solid substrate presence on PMA effectiveness, mixed cultures were inoculated into sterile sand. 16S rRNA genes were PCR amplified for the two lowest PMA concentrations for all combinations of cells at all dilutions (Table 1). For the two higher PMA concentrations, PCR products were generated for all dilutions of LELP, LEDP, DELP, and for the 10⁻¹ and 10⁻² dilutions of DEDP; but no amplification was observed for the 10⁻³ and 10⁻⁴ dilutions of DEDP (Table 1). Inoculated sand that was not PMA-treated showed successful PCR amplification for all four combinations of cells at all dilutions (Table 1). We interpret these results to indicate that solid substrates can interfere with crosslinking of PMA to DNA from dead cells at high particle concentrations, but that dilution of particles can alleviate this interference.

To further test the combined impact of shading and adsorbance to mixed size particles and organics, we used sterilized field soils inoculated with the cell culture mixes described above. Amplification was observed for all cell mixes at all soil dilutions for

0.01, 0.02, and 0.03 mM PMA (Table 1). When 0.04 mM PMA was added, PCR products were generated for all mixtures containing live cells and for 10⁻¹ and 10⁻² dilutions for DEDP; but no amplification was observed for 10⁻³ and 10⁻⁴ dilutions of DEDP (Table 1). We interpret these results to indicate that complex soils can inhibit PMA effectiveness even more than sand, but that higher concentrations of PMA and dilution of soil alleviates this interference.

Table 1. PCR amplification results for lab optimization tests with different PMA concentrations. + indicates that PCR products were generated upon amplification, - indicates that no PCR products were generated upon amplification, na: not applicable, genomic DNA was not tested with sterilized sand or soil.

Treatment	Genomic DNA				LELP				LEDP				DELP				DEDP								
PMA conc. (mM)	0	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.04	0	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.04	0	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.04	0	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.04	0	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.04
LC	+	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-
Sand																									
10-1	na	na	na	na	na	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
10 ⁻²	na	na	na	na	na	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
10-3	na	na	na	na	na	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-
10-4	na	na	na	na	na	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-
Soil																									
10 ⁻¹	na	na	na	na	na	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
10 ⁻²	na	na	na	na	na	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
10-3	na	na	na	na	na	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-
10 ⁻⁴	na	na	na	na	na	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	_

^a Abbreviations: LC, liquid culture; LELP, live E. coli, live P. aeruginosa; LEDP, live E. coli, dead P. aeruginosa; DELP, dead E.

coli, live P. aeruginosa; DEDP, dead E. coli, dead P. aeruginosa

RFLP digests of the PCR products from untreated samples showed PCR amplification of 16S rRNA genes from both dead and live cells, while samples treated with 0.04 mM PMA showed PCR amplification of 16S rRNA genes only from live cells (Figure 1). The PMA treatment was only able to eliminate DNA from dead cells at the 10⁻³ ³ and 10⁻⁴ dilutions (Figure 1, Lanes 9-16); lower dilutions showed PCR amplification of DNA from dead cells (Figure 1, Lanes 5-8). Since the lower dilution of 10⁻³ was successful, the subsequent treatments on the environmental samples were carried out with 0.04 mM PMA and 10⁻³ dilution of sediments.



Figure 1. RFLP of PMA-treated and untreated inoculated soil. PCR products of the V3 region of the 16S rRNA genes were digested with *MspA11*. Treated samples were incubated with 0.04 mM PMA per gram of soil. M: 100bp marker; Lanes 1-4: no PMA treatment; Lanes 5-16: PMA treatment; Lane 17: *E. coli* 16S rRNA gene product, Lane 18: *P. aeruginosa* 16S rRNA gene product. Lanes 1, 5, 9, 13: LELP; Lanes 2, 6, 10, 14:

LEDP; Lanes 3, 7, 11, 15: DELP; and Lanes 4, 8, 12, 16: DEDP. Lanes 5-8, 10^{-1} soil dilution; Lanes 9-12, 10^{-3} soil dilution; Lanes 13-16, 10^{-4} soil dilution

2.4: Discussion

Solid substrates (i.e. sand and soil) were found to inhibit PMA treatment efficacy relative to pure genomic DNA and liquid culture suspensions. A higher concentration of PMA and higher dilution of the samples were necessary to ensure the success of the PMA treatments in solid substrates. This interference is likely due to two major factors, particle shading (as evidenced by the strong effects of both sand and soil) and adsorbance of PMA by sediment (as evidenced by the increased effect of soils over sand). High solid concentrations have been previously shown to significantly impede PMA's efficacy; therefore, solids in soil samples must be diluted to enable successful cross-linking (123). Based on our results, a minimum concentration of 0.04 mM PMA added to samples diluted at least 1:1000 compensates for these effects.

Our optimized protocol is similar to that described by Pisz et al. and applied to permafrost by Yergeau et al. In those papers, they found little difference in treated and untreated samples; however, these papers used qPCR to quantify specific taxa rather than characterizing the entire bacterial community. If the targeted taxa are viable or the taxonomic resolution too low, no change would be observed with qPCR, providing an important caveat for the use of PMA; namely, that the methods used for subsequent characterization may significantly influence the outcome.

CHAPTER 3: ACTIVE BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES FROM PLEISTOCENE AND HOLOCENE AGED PERMAFROST

3.1: Abstract

Experimental warming of Arctic soils in field experiments, some exceeding a decade, have failed to show significant changes in permafrost bacterial communities, while laboratory studies have shown shifts almost immediately upon thaw. One possible explanation for this discrepancy is bias due to preservation of DNA from dead cells in permafrost. We optimized a protocol for distinguishing between DNA originating from viable cells and total bacterial DNA extracted from permafrost. We examine the response of the active bacterial community composition to the rapid warming that accompanied the end of the Pleistocene, 11,700 years ago. This warming resulted in changes in soil edaphic properties, including pH, TOC and TN as a largely grassland ecosystem was replaced by early boreal forest. Our results show that the viable permafrost bacterial community is significantly different from total DNA and these two assemblages are structured by different environmental parameters. The corollary to these findings is that future climate change is unlikely to shift bacterial communities unless the warming is sufficient to change soil edaphic properties.

3.2: Introduction

Permafrost is an exceptional archive of past ecosystems, both because it is a storehouse of well-preserved fossils (139) and because it is an ideal environment for preservation of DNA from dead organisms (106, 110). DNA degradation and modification occurs due to temperature-dependent hydrolytic, oxidative and alkaline processes (106, 107); therefore, the constant sub-zero temperatures, neutral pH and

anaerobic conditions in permafrost make it an excellent archive for storing DNA for extended periods of time. The species compositions of past ecosystems have been inferred from ancient, preserved DNA of extinct plants, mammals, insects, fungi and bacteria from permafrost (6, 106, 111, 113, 140).

At the end of the Pleistocene, about 11,700 years ago (84), the Earth's climate system abruptly warmed, leading to a cascade of changes that drove large-scale extinctions and reorganization of ecosystems. This period is considered an analog for modern, ongoing climate change (141). Due to studies of fossils from permafrost and lacustrine sediments, we know a considerable amount about the adaptations, extirpations and extinctions of large mammals and plant communities at the Pleistocene/Holocene boundary (8). However, relatively little is known about the changes that took place at the microbial level.

Permafrost contains large reserves of frozen labile carbon that is unavailable for respiration (36). Some microorganisms remain viable and active within permafrost (6, 66, 68, 142) and as the Arctic undergoes anthropogenically-driven warming, this labile carbon is vulnerable to degradation by these viable microorganisms (9). Most previous DNA-based studies of permafrost have not distinguished between DNA from viable and dead microorganisms (9, 72) potentially leading to misunderstanding of biogeochemical processes in permafrost. For example, thaw of permafrost has been reported to lead to rapid shifts in microbial community composition (119). This rapid shift could have been due to an actual shift in the microbial community structure or it could be the result of co-extraction of preserved DNA from dead cells. This non-viable DNA could be rapidly degraded by low abundance, viable microorganisms after thaw. These interpretations

have different implications for carbon remineralisation; thus, it is critical to distinguish between viable and non-viable sources of DNA in order to understand the organisms underlying carbon and nutrient cycling in permafrost. Studying the composition of viable microbial communities in permafrost will provide a better understanding of how these microorganisms respond to soil chemical and physical (edaphic) variability resulting from climate change across the Pleistocene/Holocene boundary. This will provide insight into the changes that the soil community is currently undergoing in this modern era of rapid climate change.

In this study, we distinguish between DNA from viable and non-viable permafrost bacteria and show that the extant community is distinct from the total community; thus, only a small percentage of the total community is likely to play a role in carbon mineralization in melting permafrost. We further demonstrate that response of the viable permafrost bacterial community to climate change at the Pleistocene-Holocene boundary was modulated through soil edaphic parameters, possibly providing a mechanism to explain the different results of laboratory based and in situ warming experiments.

3.3: Materials and Methods

3.3.1: Site description and sampling procedure

Active layers (i.e. seasonally frozen sediments overlying permafrost) and perennially frozen sediments were collected in June 2013 and June 2012, respectively, from a placer gold mining site known as the Lucky Lady (LLII) mine (63.74° N, 138.86° W). LLII is about 50km southeast of Dawson City, Yukon Territory, Canada. Ongoing mining at this southern Klondike goldfield exposed the permafrost below making it easier to directly access Holocene and Pleistocene permafrost. Vegetation at the sample site is that of a typical boreal forest, composed of *Sphagnum* spp. mosses, labrador tea (*Ledum groenlandicum*), willow (*Salix* sp.), and black spruce (*Picea mariana*).

For the active layers, overlying organic horizons (live and dead plant material) were removed and the samples were taken from a hill inclination of ~15°. Two active layer (seasonally frozen at the time of sampling) cores of 8 cm diameter and 20 cm long were collected 0.8 m apart. For the perennially frozen sediments, three Holocene (H1, H2, and H3, collected at 92, 315, and 667 cm below the surface, respectively) and three Pleistocene (P1, P2, and P3, collected at 997, 1100, and 1125 cm below the surface, respectively) cores of 8 cm diameter and 20 cm long were collected by horizontal drilling with an EDR-260 (ECHO Inc., Lake Zurich, IL, USA) gas powered drill with a diamond bit. Any surface organic matter contaminants that stuck to the cores during drilling were scraped off. Frozen cores were placed in clear bags, transferred to coolers with ice-packs in the field, and stored at -20°C until further analysis.

3.3.2: Core subsampling

Prior to core subsampling, potential contamination was tracked in a similar fashion as described previously (143), except the exterior of each core was sprayed with *E. coli* containing an ampicillin resistant pBAD vector with an enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) 24 hrs before subsampling instead of a pET23a vector. The presence of PCR-amplifiable eGFP DNA was interpreted as potential contamination, and those samples were discarded. When sub-sampling, two sub-samples from each core were

extracted close to the cores' outer surface as positive controls for contamination.

The cores were subsampled as previously described (136) in a class 1000 clean lab at the University of Alberta that had never been used for DNA extraction or amplification. To subsample, the end of the core was laterally excised and a puck was broken off from the core by a hammer and chisel. The samples for DNA extraction were obtained from the center of the puck by hammering sterilized 1/2" hose splicers (metal tubes) into the frozen puck. The subsamples were immediately stored at -20°C until DNA extraction. For DNA extraction, subsamples from each core were combined and homogenized by sieving through a 2mm mesh. Soil samples were either left untreated or treated with PMA as described in the supplementary materials.

3.3.3: Soil Chemistry

Soil chemistry measurements including moisture content, pH, total nitrogen (TN), total phosphorus (TP), nitrate, ammonium, total organic carbon (TOC) and total carbon (TC) were performed on the 2 active layer and 6 permafrost samples using standard methods (144). Soil moisture content was obtained by oven drying the samples at 105°C for 24 hours. Soil pH was determined using a soil to water ratio of 1:2 using an AB15 pH meter (Fisher Scientific, USA). TN and TP were extracted using Kjeldahl digestion as previously described (145, 146) and measured using a SmartChem Discrete Wet Chemistry Analyzer, Model 200 (Westco Scientific, USA) (147, 148). Nitrate and ammonium were extracted using potassium chloride as the extract solution and colorimetrically measured using a SmartChem Discrete Wet Chemistry Analyzer, Model

200 (Westco Scientific, USA) (149, 150). Ammonium was measured using the Berthelot method (151, 152) and nitrate was measured using the Diazo Coupling method (149) TOC was measured using the Loss on Ignition (LOI) procedure (153) using a Lindberg SB Muffle Furnace (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., USA). Finally, TC was measured using the dry combustion method (AOACInternational 2000) using a Costech 4010 Elemental Analyzer System (Costech International Strumatzione, Italy). All soil chemistry measurements were carried out in triplicates.

3.3.4: PMA treatment

Soil samples were treated with propidium monoazide (PMA), a DNA intercalating dye that irreversibly cross-links to free DNA upon exposure to light, but cannot penetrate intact membranes. Thus, only DNA from live cells is extractable and amplifiable. For treatment, soils were diluted 1:1000 and incubated with PMA (0.04 mM) in the dark for 10 min with vigorous shaking every 2 min. PMA was cross-linked to DNA with a 500W halogen lamp (Globe Electric, Quebec, Canada) by placing the samples 20 cm from the light source for 10 min on ice. Details of protocol optimization are provided in the supplementary materials.

3.3.5: DNA Extraction

Four replicates of each sample were diluted and combined during filtration on to a 47mm diameter, 0.2µm pore size polysulfone (Supor) filter (Pall Corporation, USA) before DNA extraction. Genomic DNA was extracted using the FastDNA Spin Kit for Soil according to manufacturer's instructions (MP Biomedicals, Santa Ana, CA), with

minor adjustments.

3.3.6: Contamination prevention and detection

To detect the presence of contamination (see above), we used PCR amplification with primers gfpF (5'-ATG GTG AGC AAG GGC GAG-3') and gfpR (5'-TTA CTT GTA CAG CTC GTC CAT GCC-3') (43). The PCR mixture consisted of 0.5 units of Platinum *Taq* DNA Polymerase High Fidelity (Invitrogen, USA); 0.1 µM of each primer; 2.5µl of 10X HiFi PCR Buffer (Invitrogen, USA); 0.2mM dNTPs (Invitrogen, USA); 3µl of DNA template; and nuclease-free H₂O (Ambion, USA) to a total volume of 25µl. Mixtures were subjected to the following thermal cycling protocol in a S1000 Thermal Cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., California, USA): a denaturing step at 95°C for 1 min; 30 amplification cycles of 30 sec at 95°C, 45 sec at the annealing temperature of 55°C, and 45 sec at 72°C; and a final extension for 10 minutes at 72°C. PCR product was detected in positive control samples, but not in central core samples, indicating a lack of contamination from the outer core (data not shown).

3.3.7: DNA sequencing and analysis of environmental samples

Samples were sequenced commercially by MR DNA (<u>http://www.mrdnalab.com</u>), where the V1-V3 regions of the 16S rRNA gene were amplified with the 27F (5'-AGA GTT TGA TCC TGG CTC AG-3') and 518R (5'-ATT ACC GCG GCT GCT GG-3') primers and sequenced using the Roche GS-FLX platform (Roche Life Science, USA) (72).

The 16S rRNA gene sequences of the environmental samples were analyzed using

version 1.33.3 of Mothur (154) by following the standard operating procedure (http://www.mothur.org/wiki/454 SOP) for flowgram filtering, noise and chimera removal, identification of operational taxonomic units (OTU), assignment of taxonomy, community comparison, and statistical analysis. Sequences were classified to the class level using the Ribosomal Database Project (RDP) reference taxonomy. Using the average neighbour-clustering algorithm, sequences were assigned to OTUs at 97% similarity. Singleton and doubleton OTUs were removed and the sequences were classified at a RDP cutoff of 60. Following subsampling to 1000 sequences per sample (based on the sample with the fewest number of sequences), the taxonomic data was acquired from Mothur's phylotype classification using the RDP reference taxonomy and the relative abundance of the sequences at the class level was determined. Phylotypes that made up less than 1% of the total number of sequences at the class level were combined and labeled as "other". The α -diversity of bacterial assemblages in PMA-treated and untreated samples was compared using the Mothur implementations of observed OTU richness (SOBS), Chao1 estimated richness (chao command), and Shannon (shannon command) and inverse Simpson's (invsimpson command) diversity indices. The significance of the changes in α -diversity was determined using a 2-sample t-test. Multivariate analysis of the OTU composition was carried out by principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) using PC-ORD v. 6.08 (155). Multi-Response Permutation Procedure (MRPP) tested for significant differences between PMA-treated and untreated samples (156) and was performed in PC-ORD v. 6.08.

3.3.8: ¹⁴C Dating

Organic matter was sampled from all 6 permafrost cores for radiocarbon dating. Samples were pre-treated using standard acid-base-acid (ABA) procedures (157). ¹⁴C measurements were carried out at the Keck-Carbon Cycle Accelerator Mass Spectrometer (KCCAMS) Facility at the University of California-Irvine using a 500kV compact AMS (National Electrostatics Corporation, WI, USA). Resulting ¹⁴C ages were calibrated to calendar years before present (Cal BP) with the IntCal13 calibration curve (158) using the OxCal online program (159).

3.4: Results

3.4.1: Sediment edaphic characteristics

The active layers (AL1 and AL2) showed a lot of variability with very different chemical properties (Table 2). H had significantly higher total nitrogen (TN), total organic carbon (TOC) and water content than P; while P had significantly higher pH than H (Table 2). In general, pH was observed to increase with depth; TN, TOC and water content decreased with depth. Sediment edaphic properties for each individual sample are displayed in Table 2. Table 2. Soil chemical and physical properties for active layer (AL) and perennially frozen Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P) layer

samples.

		•		•	•			•		
Sample	Depth (cm)	Age (Cal yrs BP)	pHª	TP (%)	TN (%) ^a	NO_3 (%) ^{ac}	$\mathrm{NH}_4(\%)^{\mathrm{abc}}$	TOC (%) ^a	TC (%)	Water (%) ^a
AL1	15	0	7.39 ± 0.01	$0.052 \pm 1 \times 10^{-3}$	$0.142 \pm 4 \mathrm{x} 10^{-4}$	$0.0005 \pm 4 x 10^{-5}$	$0.002 \pm 2 x 10^{-5}$	0.65 ± 0.04	1.05 ± 0.02	26.70 ± 1.21
AL2	19	0	$4.61 \pm 3 \times 10^{-3}$	$0.087 \pm 1 x 10^{-3}$	$0.860 \pm 2 x 10^{-3}$	$0.0005\pm 5 x 10^{\text{-5}}$	$0.001 \pm 1 x 10^{-5}$	7.55 ± 0.43	14.58 ± 2.83	46.84 ± 1.94
H1	92	8100	4.28 ± 0.01	$0.068 \pm 1 x 10^{-3}$	$0.464 \pm 1 \times 10^{-3}$	$0.0005 \pm 5 x 10^{\text{-5}}$	$0.006 \pm 6 x 10^{\text{-5}}$	2.17 ± 0.12	5.48 ± 1.06	30.55 ± 1.40
H2	315	9550	6.05 ± 0.01	$0.038 \pm 1 x 10^{-3}$	$0.470 \pm 1 \times 10^{-3}$	$0.0003 \pm 3 x 10^{-5}$	$0.008 \pm 9 x 10^{\text{-5}}$	1.76 ± 0.10	3.65 ± 0.71	40.17 ± 2.74
Н3	667	12150	7.66 ± 0.01	$0.052 \pm 1 x 10^{-3}$	$0.146 \pm 4 x 10^{-4}$	$0.0007 \pm 6 x 10^{-5}$	$0.004 \pm 4 x 10^{\text{-5}}$	0.64 ± 0.04	1.31 ± 0.25	56.01 ± 3.45
P1	997	15100	8.27 ± 0.02	$0.049 \pm 1 x 10^{-3}$	$0.073 \pm 2 x 10^{-4}$	$0.0004 \pm 4 x 10^{\text{-5}}$	$0.003 \pm 3 x 10^{\text{-5}}$	0.34 ± 0.02	1.17 ± 0.23	24.21 ± 0.84
P2	1100	16000	8.01 ± 0.01	$0.068 \pm 1 x 10^{-3}$	$0.075 \pm 2x10^{-4}$	$0.0005 \pm 4 x 10^{\text{-5}}$	$0.003 \pm 3 x 10^{\text{-5}}$	0.39 ± 0.02	0.90 ± 0.17	28.72 ± 1.31
P3	1125	16200	$8.11 \pm 3 \times 10^{-3}$	$0.064 \pm 1 \times 10^{-3}$	$0.068 \pm 2 x 10^{-4}$	$0.0004 \pm 4 x 10^{-5}$	$0.003 \pm 3 x 10^{-5}$	0.42 ± 0.02	1.00 ± 0.19	25.46 ± 1.43

¹% dry weight
² ± standard error
³ Abbreviations: TP, total phosphorus; TN, total nitrogen; NO₃, nitrate; NH₄, ammonium; TOC, total organic carbon; TC, total carbon

^a t-test showed significant difference between Holocene and Pleistocene samples (p<0.05) ^b t-test showed significant difference between Active and Holocene samples (p<0.05) ^c t-test showed significant difference between Active and Pleistocene samples (p<0.05)

3.4.2: PMA untreated samples

Untreated samples showed high taxon richness and overall diversity (Table 3). Diversity of AL, H and P samples were not significantly different; AL observed richness was significantly higher than H; and AL estimated richness was significantly higher than both H and P (Table 3).

Samples clustered into three significantly different groups (Figure 2). AL2 clustered with H2 and H3 (group1), H1 clustered with P2 and P3 (group2), and AL1 clustered with P1 (group3). Ice content was the only edaphic property significantly correlated with the samples (Figure 2). Although the untreated samples showed high levels of diversity, only a few bacterial orders showed a significant correlation with the clustering. Only Bacillales was correlated with group 1 and contributed to its separation from groups 2 and 3 along Axis 1. Rhizobiales, Solirubrobacterales, Clostridiales and Actinomycetales was correlated with group 2: Rhizobiales and Solirubrobacterales separated group 2 from group 1 along Axis 1, while Clostridiales and Actinomycetales separated group 2 from group 3 along Axis 2. Finally, Nitrospirales was correlated with group 3 and contributed to the separation of AL1 from P1 along Axis 2 and groups 3 from groups 1 and 2 along Axis 2.

Table 3. α-diversity measures of the 16S rRNA gene libraries for PMA-treated (+PMA) and untreated (-PMA) active layer (AL) and perennially frozen Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P) layer samples.

Sample	Observed OTUs	Chao1	invSimpson	Shannon	Simpson evenness	Shannon evenness
AL1-PMA	269	533 (441;672)	124 (102;156)	5.15 (5.06;5.25)	0.46	0.92
AL2-PMA	213	457 (364;608)	51 (43;63)	4.62 (4.51;4.73)	0.24	0.86
H1-PMA	211	395 (323;512)	81 (69;98)	4.80 (4.70;4.89)	0.38	0.90
H2-PMA	193	363 (295;476)	55 (47;66)	4.56 (4.45;4.66)	0.29	0.87
H -PMA	187	334 (273;436)	47 (40;58)	4.51 (4.40;4.62)	0.25	0.86
P1-PMA	259	503 (417;636)	98 (80;127)	5.07 (4.97;5.16)	0.38	0.91
P2-PMA	225	397 (332;502)	77 (64;95)	4.84 (4.74;4.94)	0.34	0.89
P3 -PMA	195	324 (271;414)	76 (65;92)	4.73 (4.64;4.82)	0.39	0.90
AL1+PMA	235	453 (372;581)	100 (85;122)	4.96 (4.87;5.05)	0.43	0.91
AL2+PMA	214	335 (288;412)	55 (43;75)	4.77 (4.67;4.88)	0.26	0.89
H1+PMA	126	206 (167;282)	36 (32;42)	4.06 (3.96;4.16)	0.29	0.84
H2+PMA	158	272 (222;360)	34 (29;41)	4.21 (4.10;4.33)	0.21	0.83
H3+PMA	166	275 (228;357)	33 (28;41)	4.26 (4.14;4.37)	0.20	0.83
P1+PMA	82	92 (85;116)	30 (26;34)	3.79 (3.70;3.88)	0.36	0.86
P2+PMA	143	171 (156;204)	69 (59;82)	4.52 (4.44;4.60)	0.48	0.91
P3+PMA	151	193 (172;235)	64 (55;76)	4.52 (4.43;4.60)	0.42	0.90

^avalues in parentheses are 95% confidence intervals



Figure 2. Bacterial communities of untreated active layer (AL), Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P) clustered using PCoA of the Bray-Curtis distance matrix. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample age. The percentage of variation explained by each axis is indicated on the figure. Clusters displayed are based on MRPP analysis where groups 1, 2 and 3 (G1, G2 and G3) were significantly different from each other (G1-G2 p<0.05; G2-G3 p<0.00001; G1-G3 p<0.05). Soil edaphic parameters that significantly correlate with the axes (p<0.05) are displayed as vectors.

3.4.3: PMA treated samples

Unlike in the untreated samples, following PMA treatment, a decreasing trend in observed and estimated richness was observed with increasing age and depth from AL to H to P. AL's estimated and observed richness were significantly higher than that of H and P; AL showed a significantly higher diversity than H but not P (Table 3). Following PMA treatment, there is a significant difference in richness and diversity between the active and perennially frozen layers, but not within the perennially frozen Holocene or Pleistocene sediments. PMA treated H and P samples had a significantly lower richness and diversity than the untreated (Table 3). More hydrated samples were found to have the lowest average percentage of dead OTUs (i.e. OTUs present in the untreated sample but absent from the treated).

Like the untreated samples, the PMA treated samples clustered into three groups. However, in this case, the groups were primarily determined by the geological epoch from which they originated: AL samples clustered together along with H1 (group1), H2 and H3 clustered with each other (group2), and all Pleistocene samples clustered together (group3) (Figure 3). pH, TN and TOC all showed significant correlation with the viable bacterial communities (Figure 3). Permafrost samples did not cluster by age: H1 and H2 were only 1,450 years apart and H3 and P1 were 2,950 years apart and yet very distinct from each other. There was a shift in the bacterial community composition and relative abundance from AL to H and across the P/H boundary, with H1 showing a very similar composition to AL1 and AL2 (Figure 4). In the active layers and H1, Actinomycetales, Rhizobiales and Solirubrobacterales had high relative abundance along with a high diversity and abundance of Acidobacteria orders. These orders were outcompeted by Bacillales in H2 and H3. In Pleistocene sediments, Actinomycetales, Burkholderiales, Clostridiales and Rhizobiales increased in abundance in P1 while Bacillales dropped. In P2 and P3 Burkholderiales abundance decreased whereas Actinomycetales, Clostridiales and Solirubrobacterales increased P3. Only four orders showed significant correlation with the PMA treated samples (data not shown): Acidobacteria groups 1 and 4 contributed to the separation of the active layer and H1 from the perennially frozen samples; Bacillales equally contributed to the separation of H2 and H3 from the active layers and Pleistocene samples; and Clostridiales separated the Pleistocene samples from H2 and H3 (data not shown).



Axis 1 (26.3%)

Figure 3. Bacterial communities of PMA-treated active layer (AL), Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P) bacterial communities clustered using PCoA of the Bray-Curtis distance matrix. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample age. The percentage of variation explained by each axes is indicated on the figure. Clusters displayed are based on MRPP analysis where groups 1, 2 and 3 (G1, G2 and G3) were significantly different from each other (G1-G2 p<0.00001; G2-G3 p<0.00001; G1-G3 p<0.05). Soil edaphic parameters that significantly correlate with the axes (p<0.05) are displayed as vectors.



Figure 4. Relative abundance of bacterial 16S rRNA genes taxonomically classified to the order level in PMA-treated (+PMA) and untreated (-PMA) active layer (AL), Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P). Numbers in parentheses indicate sample age.

3.5: Discussion

The transition from the Pleistocene epoch to the Holocene epoch was marked by a rapid climate change, going from a dry and cold environment to a warm and wet one (102). This warming led to shifts in plant communities, from steppe to tundra, in turn influencing the surrounding soil's chemical and physical properties such as soil water holding capacity, pH, organic matter content, total nitrogen and soluble phosphorus (160). We observed this shift in our samples where distinctive difference between H and P perennially frozen sediment properties were observed (Table 2). However, samples from within an epoch showed no significant variance in the measured environmental variables.

When focusing on DNA from viable cells only, samples clustered according to era/epoch edaphic parameters. Holocene permafrost was clearly distinct from Pleistocene, indicating that the active component of the community is selected for by both permafrost conditions and sediment edaphic parameters at the time the permafrost was formed. In addition, taxonomic analysis showed that bacterial communities in the Pleistocene and Holocene samples were composed of different bacterial orders, but similar orders were observed within an epoch despite the large age differences. As previously reported, the active layer viable bacterial communities were clearly distinct from the permafrost communities (9, 78), except for the H1 sample that clustered with the active layer.

Soil microbial communities play imperative roles in regulating soil biogeochemistry and ecosystem functioning, but their response to climate warming is yet unclear (161). This understanding is particularly lacking in environments such as permafrost where ice-rich ground has high levels of inertia (162). Microbial communities

have been predicted to rapidly respond to permafrost thaw due to the availability of trapped organic matter and vast carbon stores for microbial degradation (9).

Since our data indicate that permafrost bacterial communities shifted across the Pleistocene/Holocene boundary and age alone did not appear to be the cause of this change, it appears that changing temperatures alone do not lead to shifts in the soil bacterial communities. This explains why some experiments show microbial community shifts with warming or thaw while others don't. Previous studies undergoing laboratory simulated permafrost thaw have shown a shift in the microbial community, phylogenetic and functional gene abundances, exoenzyme activities, transcriptional response and metabolic diversity (9-12). On the other hand, *in situ* warming experiments have shown only minor changes in microbial community composition (13-16). In previous field warming experiments, either a strong lag in the response of soil microbial communities was observed (e.g. Lamb et al. 2011 (16)) or changes in microbial communities were accompanied by parallel changes in soil edaphic properties (primarily pH; e.g. Hayden et al, 2012 and Rousk et al, 2012 (82, 83)) (Table 4). In those experiments where warming was insufficient to result in a significant change in the soil edaphic parameters, there was, in turn, no corresponding change in the microbial community (Table 4). A change in pH alone was found to be sufficient to determine microbial community composition both at continental scales and across the Arctic (83, 163-165). One possible explanation for this discrepancy between lab-based and field-based results is that laboratory thaw experiments might lead to a shift in the permafrost microbial communities due to increased effects on edaphic parameters resulting from container effects; in the fieldbased experiments on the other hand, if a shift is not observed for soil edaphic
parameters, then the microbial community will not shift. Another possible explanation for this discrepancy is that field-based studies have examined total preserved DNA, while lab experiments primarily obtained DNA from viable cells.

Paper		Environment	Duration of warming	Increase in soil temperature	Soil chemical properties pre-warming		Soil chemical properties post-warming		Conclusions
Rousk <i>et al.</i> ,	Temperate fo	rest at Harvard Forest LTER-	3 years +5°C		Organic soil	pH=3.4 OC=270mg/g TN=11mg/g	Organic soil	pH=3.3 OC=310mg/g TN=13mg/g	Temperature adaptation of bacterial communities
2012(83)		Prospect Hill			Organic soil Mineral soil	pH=4.1 OC=80mg/g TN=4mg/g	Mineral soil	pH=3.9 OC=73mg/g TN=4mg/g	suggest community shift but didn't confirm shift
Kuffner <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2012 (166)	Temperate r Tyrolean Lim	nountain forest soil in North estone Alps near Achenkirch, Austria	4 years	+4°C	pl	H slighty >6	NA		No significant difference in bacterial community structure or composition
DeAngelis <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2015	Temperate forest at Harvard Forest Long-term		5 years	+5°C	Organic soil	pH=3.72 TC=3314g/m ²		NA	No significant difference in bacterial community
(107)	Research (LTER) site				Mineral soil	pH=4.38 TC=3478g/m ²	NA		structure or composition

Table 4. The effect of warming on microbial community structure and composition in different soil environments

		Barre Woods	8 years		Organic soil	pH=4.29 TC=1772g/m ²		NA	No significant difference in bacterial community structure or
					Mineral soil	pH=4.42 TC=1810g/m ²		NA	composition
		Prospect Hill	20 years		Organic soil	pH=3.82 TC=2565g/m ²		NA	Significant difference in bacterial community structure and composition
			,		Mineral soil	pH=4.41 TC=2859g/m ²		NA	No significant difference in bacterial community structure or composition
Sistla <i>et al.</i> , 2013 (168)	Arctic tundra	, moist acidic tussock (MAT) near Toolik Lake	20 years	+1-2°C	Surface organic soil	TC=1027g/m ² TN=27g/m ² C:N=42*	Surface organic soil	TC=929g/m ² TN=28g/m ² C:N=36*	Shift in plant community structure; increased plant biomass and woody dominance
					Deep organic	$TC=4547 \text{g/m}^2$ $TN=164 \text{g/m}^2$	Deep organic	$TC=3907g/m^2$ $TN=146g/m^2$	Shift in plant community structure;

				soil	C:N=32	soil	C:N=28	increased plant biomass and woody dominance; change in fungal:bacterial biomass
					TC= $6382g/m^{2*}$		TC= $8342g/m^{2*}$	Shift in plant community
				Mineral soil	$1 N = 318 g/m^2$	Mineral soil	$1 N = 3 / /g/m^2$	structure; increased plant
					C:N=20*		C:N=22*	woody dominance
Rinnan <i>et al,</i> 2007 (14)	Subarctic tundra heath near Abisko Scientific Research Station in Swedish Lapland	15 years	+1.2-2°C		pH=7.1	SC H2O cor lower in soil than 5-	M= 70-89% ntent significantly warmed top 5cm control but not in 10cm depth	Significant alterations in microbial biomass accompanied by strong modification in microbial community composition. Warming significantly decreased the relative abundance of fungi compared to bacteria
Biasi <i>et al</i> ,	Tundra in N-Siberia near Yamburg on	2 years	+0.9°C	Organic	Moisture=58.2%	Organic	Moisture=54.8%	No significant

2008 (13)	Ta	Tazovskiy Peninsula				soil	SOM=84.4% C=40.4% N=1.1%	soil	SOM=79.7% C=38.5%* N=1.3%*	differences in soil bacterial composition
						Mineral soil	Moisture=47.6% SOM=30.7% C=14.7% N=0.7%	Mineral soil	Moisture=50.1% SOM=36.1% C=16.9% N=0.9%	
Lamb <i>et al,</i> 2011 (16)	High Arctic tundra soils on Alexandra Fiord, Ellesmere Island, Nunavut		16 years	NA	NH NO PO SOC DOI	4= 63.2mg/kg 3= 26.7mg/kg 4= 0.53mg/kg 2= 268.9mg/kg N= 32.7mg/kg	NH NO PO4 SOC DOI	4= 65.9mg/kg 3= 23.7mg/kg = 1.09mg/kg* 2= 303.9mg/kg N= 37.7mg/kg	No change in soil microbial community or diversity of microbial functional groups	
Clemmensen et al., 2012	Arctic tundra	Heath tundra near Abisko		14 years	+0.4-0.6°C	pH=7.1			NA	No change in fungal biomass with warming
(169)	ecosystems	Tussock tundra (MAT) near Toolik Lake			+2.2°C		pH=5.0		NA	Increased fungal biomass
Walker <i>et al.</i> , 2008 (170)	High Arctic tundra soils on the East coast of Ellesmere	Lowland sites	Sedge Meadow	13 years	+0.7°C	pH ran d	ge=surface soils- eeper layers		NA	Significantly different community structure and genotype

	Island, Nunavut					pH=6.6-5.9		richness for nosZ and NifH
			Cassiope Heath			pH=4.9-5.4	NA	No significant differences in <i>nosZ</i> or <i>NifH</i> communities
			Riverside Willow			Driest lowland pH=5.2-4.6	NA	Significantly different community structure and genotype richness of <i>NifH</i>
		Upland sites	Granitic		NA	pH=4.9-5.5	NA	Significantly different community structure; less significance for genotype richness (may be biologically significant) of <i>NifH</i>
			Dolomitic			pH=7.9	NA	Significantly different <i>nosZ</i> communities
Zhang <i>et al</i> , 2005	Tallgrass pra Plain Apia	irie at Great tries, near	Clipped	3 years	+2.7°C	NA	No effect on inorganic N	No significant changes

(171)	Norma	Oklahoma tallgrass prairie soil, Great Plain Apiaries site		lipped		+1.8°C	NA	inorganic N decreased but not significant	Shift in microbial community structure with fungal dominance. Significant reduction in microbial metaboli potential
Penton <i>et al,</i> 2013	Oklahoma tallgrass prairie soil, Great Plair Apiaries site Alaskan permafrost, at Carbon in				>10 years	+1.8-2.7°C	NA	NA	No significant effect on the
(172)	Alaskan permafrost, at Carbon in Permafrost Experimental Heating Research project (CiPEHR) in Eight Mile Lake, Alaska				1 year	+1.5°C	NA	NA	community structure except for a few groups
Hayden <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2012 (82)	Australian grassland soil, Pontville in south- eastern Tasmania	0-5cm soil depth	Ambient CO ₂	C ₄ grass C ₃ plants	5 years	+2°C	NH ₄ ⁺ =0.39 μg/g * NO ₃ ⁻ = 2.57μg/g Mineral N=2.96 μg/g SOC=3.26% TN=0.24% C:N=13.84 NH ₄ ⁺ =0.84 μg/g NO ₃ ⁻ =1.22 μg/g Mineral N=2.06 μg/g*	NH ₄ ^{+=3.98 µg/g* NO₃^{-=6.21 µg/g Mineral N=10.18 µg/g SOC=3.80% TN=0.27% C:N=14.31 NH₄^{+=3.06 µg/g NO₃^{-=2.19 µg/g} Mineral N=5.24 µg/g*}}}	Archaeal abundance was significantly affected by warming in C_4 grass and C_3 plants; total archaea increased in warmed C_4 grass and decreased in warmed C_3 plants. Fungal abundance increased with

				SOC=2.51%	SOC=2.63%	warming and
				TN=0.18%	TN=0.19%	elevated CO2.
				C:N=13.72	C:N=13.82	Bacterial abundance slightly
				NH4 ⁺ =3.28 µg/g*	NH4 ⁺ =0.69 µg/g*	decreased in
				NO ₃ ⁻ =2.16 μg/g	$NO_3 = 2.83 \ \mu g/g$	warming and
			C_4	Mineral N=5.44 µg/g	Mineral N=3.52 µg/g	warming with elevated CO2.
			grass	SOC=3.16%	SOC=2.93%	In general, bacterial
				TN=0.22%	TN=0.21%	diversity did not change under
		Elevated		C:N=14.28	C:N=13.95	warming or warming with
		CO_2		NH4 ⁺ =0.66 µg/g	$NH_4^+=3.89 \ \mu g/g$	elevated CO2.
				NO ₃ ⁻ =1.53 μg/g	NO3 ⁻ =4.74 μg/g	
			C ₃	Mineral N=2.18 µg/g	Mineral N=8.62 µg/g	
			plants	SOC=3.23%	SOC=3.16%	
				TN=0.22%	TN=0.22%	
				C:N=14.62	C:N=13.96	
				NH4 ⁺ =2.85 µg/g	NH ₄ ⁺ =4.71 μg/g	
	5- 10cm	Ambient	C ₄	NO ₃ ⁻ =2.16 μg/g	NO ₃ ⁻ =3.70 μg/g	
s	soil depth	CO_2	grass	Mineral N=5.00 µg/g	Mineral N=8.41 µg/g	
				SOC=2.73%	SOC=2.98%	
					I	L

						TN=0.20%	TN=0.21%	
						C:N=13.71	C:N=14.19	
						NH ₄ ⁺ =3.21 μg/g	$NH_4^+=4.75 \ \mu g/g$	
						NO3 ⁻ =2.32 μg/g	NO ₃ ⁻ =2.59 μg/g	
			C ₃		Mineral N=5.54 µg/g	Mineral N=7.33 µg/g		
			plants	plants		SOC=1.88%	SOC=1.86%	
						TN=0.14%	TN=0.13%	
						C:N=13.48	C:N=14.00	
						NH ₄ ⁺ =2.86 μg/g	NH4 ⁺ =2.86 μg/g	
			C_4			NO ₃ ⁻ =0.36 μg/g	NO3 ⁻ =2.06 µg/g	
						Mineral N=3.22 µg/g	Mineral N=4.93 µg/g	
			grass			SOC=2.46%	SOC=2.47%	
						TN=0.17%	TN=0.18%	
		Elevated CO ₂				C:N=14.46	C:N=13.71	
						NH ₄ ⁺ =4.03 μg/g	NH4 ⁺ =5.33 μg/g	
						NO3 ⁻ =2.11 μg/g	NO3 ⁻ =1.83 μg/g	
			C ₃ plants			Mineral N=6.15 µg/g	Mineral N=7.17 µg/g	
						SOC=2.37%	SOC=2.28%	
						TN=0.16%	TN=0.17%	

					C:N=14.58	C:N=13.70	
					SM=0.27%	SM=0.2%	
		Vagatatad			$\mathrm{NH_4^+}=24.5\mathrm{mg/kg}$	$NH_4^+=21.6mg/kg$	
		vegetated			NO ₃ ⁻ =0.8mg/kg	NO ₃ ⁻ =1.0mg/kg	
Sub-	Falkland			+0.7°C	N=0.9%	N=0.96%	
Antarctic	Islands				SM=NA	SM=NA	
					$\mathrm{NH_4^+=15.7mg/kg}$	$NH_4^+=19.3mg/kg$	
	$NO_3 = 23.5 \text{ mg/kg} \qquad NO_3 = 48.4 \text{ mg}$	$NO_3 = 48.4 mg/kg$					
					N=0.92%	N=0.93%	Shift in microbial
			3 voors		SM=0.17%	SM=0.17%	community composition and
		Vagatatad	5 years		$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$ =47.6mg/kg	NH4 ⁺ =44.8mg/kg	abundance; significant
		vegetated			NO ₃ ⁻ =4.2mg/kg	NO ₃ ⁻ =3.0mg/kg	changes in functional genes
	Signy			+0 5-0 7°C	N=1.94%	N=1.96%	
Antoratia	Island			0.5 0.7 0	SM=0.07%	SM=0.06%	
Antarctic		Fall field			$NH_4^+=NA$	$NH_4^+=NA$	
		ren-neid			NO ₃ ⁻ =NA	NO ₃ ⁻ =NA	
					N=NA	N=NA	
	Anchorage	Vegetated	1	+0.6-1.5°C	SM=0.25%	SM=0.26%	
	Island	Vegetated		+0.6-1.5°C	NH4 ⁺ =146.9mg/kg	NH4 ⁺ =89.2mg/kg	
	Sub- Antarctic	Sub-Antarctic Falkland Sub-Antarctic Falkland Signy Signy Islands Signy Antarctic Antarctic Antarctic Anchorage Island Island	Sub- AntarcticFalkland IslandsVegetatedFalkland IslandsFell-fieldFell-fieldVegetatedAntarcticSigny IslandAntarcticSigny IslandAntarcticVegetatedAntarcticVegetated	Sub- AntarcticFalkland IslandsVegetatedSub- AntarcticFalkland IslandsFell-fieldFell-field3 yearsAntarcticSigny IslandFell-fieldAntarcticAnchorage IslandVegetated	Sub- AntarcticFalkland IslandsVegetated+0.7°CFell-fieldFell-field3 years+0.5°CAntarcticSigny IslandVegetated3 yearsAntarcticSigny IslandFell-field+0.5-0.7°CAntarcticAnchorage IslandVegetated+0.6-1.5°C	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c } \hline \end{tabular} \\ \hline \end{tabular} \\ Sub- \\ Antarctic \\ \hline \end{tabular} \\ $

			Fell-field			NO3 ⁻ =7.9mg/kg N=3.3% NA	NO3 ⁻ =35.6mg/kg N=3.25% NA	
Weedon <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2014	Sub-Arctic peat bog from the Abisko	Spring	g/summer	0 veers	+0.6-1.0°C	Organic matter content>95%	NA	No significant effect of warming on potential
(174)	Research Station in Abisko, Sweden	W	/inter	ycais	+0.5-2.2°C	C=45%	NA	temperature sensitivity of hydrolytic soil enzymes

Based on our results and previous studies, significant warming can occur without a shift in the microbial community structure and function; however, once that warming exceeds the threshold needed to achieve significant shifts in soil edaphic parameters, either directly or through shifts in plant community composition, there will be an abrupt and dramatic shift in microbial community composition. Therefore, we should expect that there will be a lack of change in Arctic soil microbial communities until a "tipping point" is reached, at which point we should expect to see a dramatic change.

In contrast to previous studies (67, 71), our study found significantly higher taxon richness and overall diversity in the active layers than in the perennially frozen layers. In those studies, they did not differentiate between DNA from viable and non-viable cells. Thus, it is likely that the lack of difference in diversity measures between seasonally and perennially frozen soils was due to the inclusion of DNA from non-viable cells. When compared to untreated samples, the observed OTUs, estimated richness and diversity are lower after PMA treatment, indicating that previous studies overestimated the richness and diversity of microbial communities.

In untreated samples, the microbial communities clustered based on ice content, rather than age or geological epoch. One possible explanation for this correlation is that hydrolysis is the primary DNA degradation pathway in permafrost (175); thus, soils with higher water content prior to freezing would have higher DNA degradation. Untreated samples appear to cluster based on the level of degradation; thus, it appears that there is taxon-specific death and degradation. For example, the high ice content samples appear to have more sequences related to spore-forming strains than the lower ice content samples. Bacillales in particular were preserved better in high ice content environments

(176); other taxa including Rhizobiales, Solirubrobacterales, Clostridiales, Actinomycetales and Nitrospirales were preferentially lost in these environments. However, Clostridiales is primarily found in drier samples despite also being Grampositive spore formers. The change in composition is most likely due to DNA degradation and not climate change since only water content was correlated with the untreated (with total DNA) samples, no soil edaphic parameters. On the other hand, treated (DNA from viable cells) samples showed different bacterial composition and diversity based on soil edaphic parameters that are altered by climate change.

A possible explanation for the clustering of H1 with the active layer samples is that it takes time for the viable bacterial community to change from an active one to a permafrost one; in this case, it took more than 8,100 years. At some point between 8,100 ya and 9,950 ya, the soil chemistry (TOC, TN, and pH) and microbial community shifted significantly. The mechanism of this shift is unclear. Another possible explanation could be that cryoturbation (the churning of soils by freezing and thawing) could have mixed the AL community down to the permafrost table where it froze along with the H1 sediments resulting in similar bacterial communities. Further investigation is required to test this theory.

In summary, the differentiation between DNA from viable and non-viable cells is important when looking at cold environments such as permafrost where DNA is preserved (110). Our optimized PMA protocol is not only useful for permafrost-affected environments but is also a very valuable asset for characterization of viable microbial communities in low cell abundance and low biological activity solid substrates such as other extreme systems (e.g. thermal or highly alkaline soil), contaminant-impacted soils,

and deep subsurface sediments. PMA treatments can also be used to detect survival following disinfection treatments in solid substrates such as food, wastewater, and manure.

In this study, the extant bacterial community was quite different from the bacterial community inferred from total DNA; thus, only a small percentage of taxa observed in total DNA will be important for carbon mineralization in melting permafrost. Contemporary warming of permafrost soils has failed to show significant changes in microbial community composition since climatic modulation of soil edaphic parameters drives microbial community composition. In a changing modern climate we are unlikely to see shifts in the microbial community structure unless there is a climate driven shift in the soil edaphic parameters; however, once that "tipping point" is reached, we predict a rapid and dramatic shift in Arctic soil bacterial community composition.

3.6: Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada Discovery Grants to BDL and DF and Northern Scientific Training Program and Circumpolar/Boreal Research Grants administered through the Canadian Circumpolar Institute to AH. We would like to thank Matt Mahony for assistance with sample collection.

CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION

The Earth is currently undergoing a rapid shift in climate with the largest impact in polar regions. At the end of the Pleistocene, about 10,000 years ago, the Earth's climate system abruptly warmed, leading to a cascade of changes that drove large-scale extinctions and reorganization of ecosystems. We know a considerable amount about the adaptations, extirpations and extinctions of large mammals and plant communities at this boundary, but relatively little about the changes that took place at the microbial level; however, such impacts have important implications for feedbacks to the climate system, productivity in Arctic environments, and nutrient and carbon flux and dynamics (8). What little we know about permafrost microbial community responses to climate change is contradictory. Rapid shifts in the microbial community composition have been noted in some cases with laboratory simulated permafrost warming, but other findings have reported a lag or even a lack in response to climate warming in field based experiments. These contradictory observations could be due to the inability to differentiate between DNA from viable cells and preserved DNA from dead cells in field based experiments; whereas preserved DNA was metabolized by viable cells leading to the extraction of DNA from viable cells only in laboratory thaw experiments. Another possibility is the increased effects in soil edaphic parameters resulting from container effects in laboratory thaw experiments leading to a shift in the microbial community; conversely, the lack of a shift in soil edaphic parameters in field based experiments.

The purpose of this research is to use permafrost of Eastern Beringia as an archive of past northern environments and microbial diversity and use the changing community composition to determine how these communities adapted to abrupt climate change at the

end of the Pleistocene. These changes provide a compelling analogue for future changes in microbial communities with ongoing and future warming.

This research is the first to study and compare viable bacterial communities in permafrost based on permafrost age. We hypothesized that viable microbial communities from permafrost of a geological epoch would be more similar than between epochs due to climate's significant cumulative effect on soil edaphic parameters. To test this hypothesis, we examined the composition of extant bacterial communities in modern soils from the active layer, Holocene and Pleistocene-aged permafrost from the Klondike in central Yukon.

First, a method for distinguishing between DNA from viable and non-viable cells was optimized for permafrost-affected sediments using PMA treatments. No significant differences were observed for taxon richness and diversity between treated and untreated active layer samples. On the other hand, perennially frozen layers had significantly fewer taxon richness and diversity following treatment. Bacterial community composition was found to be distinct for the treated and untreated active and perennially frozen layers, with very few shared OTUs.

Second, viable bacterial communities of active, Holocene and Pleistocene perennially frozen sediments were compared to examine their response to the rapid warming that occurred at the end of the Pleistocene. This warming resulted in changes in soil edaphic parameters where soil pH became significantly more acidic in the Holocene with significantly higher TN, NO₃, NH₄, TOC and water content than in the Pleistocene. Gas flux measurements showed no correlations with untreated samples (i.e. total DNA) while CO₂ production significantly correlated with treated samples (i.e. DNA from viable

cells) with the modern samples showing the highest levels of CO_2 production upon permafrost thaw. As hypothesized, viable bacterial communities were observed to be more similar within an epoch than between epochs with active layer, Holocene and Pleistocene samples clustering separately from each other. Taking soil edaphic properties into account, it appears that this distinctive clustering is due to significant changes in soil properties due to abrupt climate change.

APPENDIX A

Although gas flux incubations and measurements were carried out, they did not clearly relate to the sequencing data. The methodology, results and discussion of the gas flux incubations are described below.

Gas flux measurements were carried out to determine rates of CO₂ production, aerobic CH₄ consumption, anaerobic CH₄ consumption and anaerobic CH₄ production in the active layers and Holocene and Pleistocene permafrost samples. Samples were obtained using a 10-inch drill press-DP102L drill (RYOBI, Anderson, SC, USA) by drilling through the center of the puck using a 1.7inch drill bit. Approximately 10g of intact frozen soil were added to autoclaved 160ml media bottles sealed with butyl septa caps. For the anaerobic incubations of CH₄ consumption and CH₄ production, the bottles were sparged with N₂ for 10 mins. For the aerobic and anaerobic CH₄ consumption bottles, 2ml (approximately 8.9 X 10⁻⁵ mol) CH₄ gas was added. The bottles were stored at -20°C until the time zero measurements were taken. The bottles were then incubated at 4°C in the dark for 6 months. CH₄ and CO₂ gases in the headspace were measured at time zero, 24hrs after incubation at 4°C and every 2 weeks by gas chromatography- flame ionization detector (Hewlett Packard 5890 Series II Gas Chromatograph, USA). If the

amount of CH_4 in the CH_4 consumption bottles dropped below 10 nmol, 100 nmol of CH_4 were added.

H3 showed anaerobic CH4 production (at a rate of 0.09 ± 0.02 nmol g sediment⁻¹ day⁻¹). No other sample produced methane during the course of the experiment. No samples showed any anaerobic methane consumption.

Both active layer as well as H3, P1, and P3 all showed aerobic methane consumption. Surprisingly, H3 and P1 showed CH₄ consumption 25 and 40 days before AL1 and AL2, respectively. P1 showed the highest rate of CH₄ consumption (0.18 ± 0.01 nmol/g/day) followed by H3 (0.15 ± 0.01 nmol/g/day) then P3 (0.11 ± 0.01 nmol/g/day) then AL1 and AL2 (0.08 ± 0.003 nmol/g/day and 0.09 ± 0.01 nmol/g/day respectively) (Table A1).

Sample	First Day of Activity ^a	Rate (nmol/g/day) ^b
AL1	70	0.08 ± 0.003
AL2	70	0.09 ± 0.01
	120 ^c	0.33 ± 0.01
H3	45	0.15 ± 0.01
	85 ^c	0.17 ± 0.002
	150 ^d	0.74 ± 0.02
P1	30	0.18 ± 0.01
11	85 ^c	0.26 ± 0.02
	120 ^d	0.80 ± 0.03
	150 ^e	1.20 ± 0.04
P3	70	0.11 ± 0.01
-	120 ^c	0.63 ± 0.02
	150 ^d	0.88 ± 0.03

Table A1. Rates of aerobic CH₄ consumption and first day of activity for active layer (AL) and perennially frozen Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P) layer samples.

^a the 1st day that CH₄ consumption was significantly higher than negative controls ^b nmol of CH₄ produced per gram of sediment per day \pm standard error ^c 1st acclimation; CH₄ concentration was too low so 100 nmol CH₄ was added ^d 2nd acclimation

^e 3rd acclimation

 CO_2 production rates were measured in samples incubated for anaerobic CH_4 consumption, anaerobic CH_4 production, aerobic CH_4 consumption and an experimental set with no modifications (Table A2). The aerobic CH_4 consumption and non-modified samples showed a similar trend of CO_2 production with a large drop in metabolic activity from active to perennially frozen layer, then a slight increase during the Holocene (H2), followed by continuous decrease in CO_2 production rates for older/deeper perennially frozen sediments. Anaerobic CH_4 consumption incubations also showed a big drop in CO_2 production rates from active to perennially frozen layer but then remained steady with deeper perennially frozen sediments. In the anaerobic CH_4 production incubations, CO_2 production rates increased from active to H1 and then gradually decreased with deeper perennially frozen sediments.

Table A2. Rates of CO_2 production and first day of activity for all gas flux experiments for active layer (AL) and perennially frozen Holocene (H) and Pleistocene (P) layer samples.

		CH4 Con	sumption		CU4 Dro	duction	Not mo	dified	
	Aer	obic	Anaeı	robic	CH4 PIC	duction	Not mo	modified ay Rate $(nmol/g)$ y^a /day) ^b $0.14 \pm$ 0.01 $1.38 \pm$ 0.31 0 $0.49 \pm$ 0.10 $0.28 \pm$ 0.07 $0.16 \pm$ 0.01 $0.12 \pm$	
Sample	First Day	Rate	First Day	Rate	First	Rate	First Day	Rate	
	of	(nmol/g/	of	(nmol/g	Day of	(nmol/g	of	(nmol/g	
	Activity ^a	day) ^b	Activity ^a	/day) ^b	Activity ^a	/day) ^b	Activity ^a	/day) ^b	
AT 1	30	$0.36 \pm$	30	$0.12 \pm$	7	$0.47 \pm$	30	$0.14 \pm$	
ALI	50	0.04	50	0.03	1	0.04	50	0.01	
AT 2	7	$1.74 \pm$	7	$0.53 \pm$	7	$0.47 \pm$	7	$1.38 \pm$	
AL2	7	0.07	/	0.02	1	0.01	/	0.31	
H1	30	$0.15 \pm$	7	$0.07 \pm$	120	$1.06 \pm$	0	0	
111	50	0.01	/	0.004	120	0.06	0	0	
Н2	1	$0.56 \pm$	1	$0.17 \pm$	7	$0.88 \pm$	7	$0.49 \pm$	
112	1	0.02	1	0.01	1	0.05	/	0.10	
Н3	30	$0.54 \pm$	7	$0.10 \pm$	0	0	30	$0.28 \pm$	
115	50	0.02	/	0.04	0	0	50	0.07	
D 1	30	$0.69 \pm$	30	$0.11 \pm$	7	$0.25 \pm$	7	$0.16 \pm$	
11	50	0.06	50	0.003	/	0.01	1	0.01	
DЭ	30	$0.17 \pm$	30	$0.06 \pm$	7	$0.35 \pm$	7	$0.12 \pm$	
1 2	50	0.02	50	0.004	/	0.01	/	0.04	
P 3	30	$0.65 \pm$	30	$0.15 \pm$	7	$0.21 \pm$	7	$0.24 \pm$	
13	50	0.08	50	0.002	1	0.0002	/	0.02	

^a the 1st day that CH₄ consumption was significantly higher than negative controls ^b nmol of CH₄ produced per gram of sediment per day \pm standard error

No correlations between gas flux measurements and untreated samples were observed. For PMA treated samples, only CO₂ production significantly correlated with AL1, AL2 and H1 samples (data not shown).

The sudden burst of CH_4 observed in H3 on day 1 could have been due to the release of trapped CH_4 in permafrost as previously observed (9). The continuous increase in the rate of CH_4 production could be due to the sample's very high ice content that

could have resulted in better anaerobic conditions despite the fact that the bottles were sparged with N_2 to simulate an anaerobic environment or due to a high and continuously increasing abundance of methanogens.

Our samples did not show any anaerobic CH_4 oxidation indicating the absence of anaerobic methanotrophic archaea and bacteria. This could be due to low concentrations of electron acceptors such as sulphate, nitrate, nitrite and ferric iron whose reduction is coupled with anaerobic CH_4 oxidation (177). Similar to previous studies, aerobic CH_4 oxidation was detected in a few samples with the perennially frozen sediments showing higher rates of aerobic CH_4 oxidation than the active layer (9). This observation could be due to higher anaerobic methanotroph abundance in the perennially frozen sediments despite the fact that previous studies have shown higher abundances in the active layer (62). In permafrost, methanotrophic bacteria are mostly responsible for methane oxidation (17).

The big drop in the rate of CO_2 production from active sediments to perennially frozen sediments for the aerobic and anaerobic CH_4 consumption and non-modified test samples has been previously observed (9) since perennially frozen layers have much lower microbial abundance due to long-term exposure to low temperatures, low nutrient availability and low water content (48, 62) and available TOC for microbial respiration. The decrease in CO_2 production rates with deeper/older perennially frozen sediments could also be attributed to the continuous decrease in TOC in deeper sediments. Perennially frozen sediments could have shown higher or equivalent rates of CO_2 production than active layer sediments in anaerobic conditions in the absence of added CH_4 (anaerobic CH_4 production test samples) due to a higher abundance/diversity of

microbes adapted to anaerobic conditions such as permafrost unlike the active layer aerated sediments (17, 178). Acetoclastic (ferment acetate to CH_4 and CO_2) and hydrogenotrophic (use hydrogen to reduce CO_2 to CH_4) methanogens have been previously identified at high abundances in Arctic permafrost (17, 78, 179, 180). The anaerobic CH_4 production H3 sample was the only one to show CH_4 production but no CO_2 production probably due to the absence of acetoclastic methanogens or due to a higher abundance of hydrogenotrophic over acetoclastic methanogens. Further research is required to confirm these predications and to distinguish between the different methanogenic and methanotrophic pathways to better predict CH_4 and CO_2 proportions and fluxes (17, 181).

 CO_2 production could have been highest in group1 samples due to high levels of TOC, microbial diversity and activity in the active layers. Although only CO_2 production showed any correlation with the samples, it is too early to deduce anything without further studying the bacterial community composition following permafrost thaw.

REFERENCES

1. Serreze MC & Francis JA (2006) The Arctic Amplification Debate. *Climate Change* 76: 241-264.

2. Tarnocai C, Canadell JG, Schuur E, Kuhry P, Mazhitova G & Zimov S (2009) Soil Organic Carbon Pools in the Northern Circumpolar Permafrost Region. *Global Biogeochem Cycles* 23(2): GB2023.

3. Tarnocai C, Ping C & Kimble J (2007) in Carbon Cycles in the Permafrost Region of North America. *The First State of the Carbon Cycle Report (SOCCR) The North American Carbon Budget and Implications for the Global Carbon Cycle,* (NOAA's National Climatic Data Centre, Asheville, NC), pp 127-138.

4. Lacelle B, *et al* (2000) in North American Soil Organic Carbon Map. 1:10 million scale map, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, USDA, USGS, INEGI and Institute of Geography, University of Copenhagen.

5. IPCC (2007) in Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. ed Solomon S, et al Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA),

6. Johnson S, Hebsgaard M, Christensen T, Mastepanov M, Nielsen R, Munch K, Brand T, Gilbert M, Zuber M, Bunce M, Ronn R, Gilichinsky D, Froese D & Willerslev E (2007) Ancient Bacteria show Evidence of DNA Repair. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104: 14401-14405.

7. Shatilovich A, Shmakova L, Gubin S, Gudkov A & GilichinskiÄ D (2005) Viable Protozoa in Late Pleistocene and Holocene Permafrost Sediments. *Doklady Biological Sciences : Proceedings of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR, Biological Sciences Sections / Translated from Russian* 401(5): 136-138.

8. Lorenzen ED, Nogues-Bravo D, Orlando L, Weinstock J, Binladen J, Marske Ka, Ugan A, Borregaard MK, Gilbert MT, Nielsen R, Ho SYW, Goebel T, Graf KE, Byers D, Stenderup JT, Rasmussen M, Campos PF, Leonard Ja, Koepfli K, Froese D, Zazula G, Stafford TW, Aaris-Sorensen K, Batra P, Haywood AM, Singarayer JS, Valdes PJ, Boeskorov G, Burns Ja, Davydov SP, Haile J, Jenkins DL, Kosintsev P, Kuznetsova T, Lai X, Martin LD, McDonald HG, Mol D, Meldgaard M, Munch K, Stephan E, Sablin M, Sommer RS, Sipko T, Scott E, Suchard Ma, Tikhonov A, Willerslev R, Wayne RK, Cooper A, Hofreiter M, Sher A, Shapiro B, Rahbek C & Willerslev E (2011) Species-Specific Responses of Late Quaternary Megafauna to Climate and Humans. *Nature* 479(7373): 359-64.

9. Mackelprang R, Waldrop MP, DeAngelis KM, David MM, Chavarria KL, Blazewicz SJ, Rubin EM & Jansson JK (2011) Metagenomic Analysis of a Permafrost Microbial Community Reveals a Rapid Response to Thaw. *Nature* 480(7377): 368-71.

10. Coolen MJL, van dG, Zhu EY & Wuchter C (2011) Bioavailability of Soil Organic Matter and Microbial Community Dynamics upon Permafrost Thaw. *Environ Microbiol* 13(8): 2299-314.

11. Coolen MJ & Orsi WD (2015) The Transcriptional Response of Microbial Communities in Thawing Alaskan Permafrost Soils. *Front Microbiol* 6: 197.

12. Oelbermann M, English M & Schiff SL (2008) Evaluating Carbon Dynamics and Microbial Activity in Arctic Soils Under Warmer Temperatures. *Can J Soil Sci* 88(1): 31-44.

13. Biasi C, Meyer H, Rusalimova O, Hammerle R, Kaiser C, Baranyi C, Daims H, Lashchinsky N, Barsukov P & Richter A (2008) Initial Effects of Experimental Warming on Carbon Exchange Rates, Plant Growth and Microbial Dynamics of a Lichen-Rich Dwarf Shrub Tundra in Siberia. *Plant Soil* 307: 191-205.

14. Rinnan R, Michelsen A, Baath E & Jonasson S (2007) Fifteen Years of Climate Change Manipulations Alter Soil Microbial Communities in a Subarctic Heath Ecosystem. *Glob Chang Biol* 13: 28-39.

15. Rinnan R, Michelsen A & Jonasson S (2008) Effects of Litter Addition and Warming on Soil Carbon, Nutrient Pools and Microbial Communities in a Subarctic Heath Ecosystem. *Appl Soil Ecol* 39: 271-281.

16. Lamb E, Han S, Lanoil B, Henry G, Brummell M, Banerjee S & Siciliano S (2011) A High Arctic Soil Ecosystem Resists Long-Term Environmental Manipulations. *Glob Chang Biol* 17: 3187-3194.

17. Jansson JK & Tas N (2014) The Microbial Ecology of Permafrost. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 12(6): 414-25.

18. AMAP (2012) Arctic Climate Issues 2011 : Changes in Arctic Snow, Water, Ice and Permafrost. SWIPA 2011 Overview Report, (Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo),

19. Ciais P, et al (2013) Carbon and Other Biogeochemical Cycles. In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed Stocker TF, et al (Cambridge University Press, United Kingdom and New York, Ny, USA),

20. Kirby B, Easton S, Tuffin I & Cowan D (2012) in Bacterial diversity in polar habitats. *Polar Microbiology: Life in a deep freeze*, eds Miller R & Whyte L (ASM Press, Washington, DC), pp 3-31.

21. Tarnocai C (2009) in Arctic Permafrost Soils. *Permafrost Soils*, ed Margesin R (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg), pp 3-16.

22. Anisimov O & Reneva S (2006) Permafrost and Changing Climate: The Russian Perspective. *Ambio* 35(4): 169-75.

23. Anonymous (1998) *Multi-language glossary of permafrost and related ground-ice terms*, ed van Everdingen R (National Snow and Ice Data Center, Boulder, CO), pp 1-90.

24. Vtyurin BI (1998) in Permafrost in Antarctica. *Fundamentals of Geocryology*, ed Ershov ED (Izdatel'stvo Moskovskogo Gosudarstvennogo Univ, Moscow), pp 531-540.

25. Froese DG, Westgate JA, Reyes AV, Enkin RJ & Preece SJ (2008) Ancient Permafrost and a Future, Warmer Arctic. *Science* 321: 1648.

26. Margesin R & Miteva V (2011) Diversity and Ecology of Psychrophilic Microorganisms. *Res Microbiol* 162: 346-61.

27. Steven B, Leveille R, Pollard WH & Whyte LG (2006) Microbial Ecology and Biodiversity in Permafrost. *Extremophiles : Life Under Extreme Conditions* 10(4): 259-67.

28. Tarnocai C & Bockheim JG (2011) Cryosolic Soils of Canada : Genesis , Distribution , and Classification. *Can J Soil Sci* 91: 749-762.

29. Bolter M, Blume H & Wetzel H (2006) Properties, Formation, Classification and Ecology of Arctic Soils : Results from the Tundra Northwest Expedition 1999 (Nunavut and Northwest Territories, Canada). *Polarforschung* 73: 89-101.

30. Kokelj SV, Smith C & Burn CR (2002) Physical and Chemical Characteristics of the Active Layer and Permafrost, Herschel Island, Western Arctic Coast, Canada. *Permafrost Periglacial Processes* 13(2): 171-185.

31. Michaelson G, Ping C & Kimble J (1996) Carbon Storage and Distribution in Tundra Soils of Arctic Alaska, U.S.A. *Arct Alp Res* 28(4): 414-424.

32. Tarnocai C & Smith C (1992) in The formation and properties of soils in the permafrost regions of Canada. ed Gilichinsky D pp 21-42.

33. Rivkina E, Laurinavichius K, McGrath J, Tiedje J, Shcherbakova V & Gilichinsky D (2004) Microbial Life in Permafrost. *Advances in Space Research* 33(8): 1215-1221.

34. Brown J, Ferrians OJ, Heginbottom JA & Melnikov ES (1998) Circum-Arctic Map of Permafrost and Ground Ice Conditions. Boulder, CO: National Snow and Ice Data Center/World Data Center for Glaciology. Digital Media

35. Rivkina E, Shcherbakova V, Laurinavichius K, Petrovskaya L, Krivushin K, Kraev G, Pecheritsina S & Gilichinsky D (2007) Biogeochemistry of Methane and Methanogenic Archaea in Permafrost. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 61: 1-15.

36. Schuur E, McGuire aD, Schadel C, Grosse G, Harden JW, Hayes DJ, Hugelius G, Koven CD, Kuhry P, Lawrence DM, Natali SM, Olefeldt D, Romanovsky VE, Schaefer K, Turetsky MR, Treat CC & Vonk JE (2015) Climate Change and the Permafrost Carbon Feedback. *Nature* 520(7546): 171-179.

37. Elberling B, Michelsen A, Schädel C, Schuur E, Christiansen H, Berg L, Tamstorf M & Sigsgaard C (2013) Long-Term CO2 Production Following Permafrost Thaw. *Nature Clim Change* 3: 890-894.

38. Schadel C, Schuur E, Bracho R, Elberling B, Knoblauch C, Lee H, Luo Y, Shaver G & Turetsky M (2014) Circumpolar Assessment of Permafrost C Quality and its Vulnerability Over Time using Long-Term Incubation Data. *Glob Chang Biol* 20: 641-652.

39. Harden J, Koven C, Ping C, Hugelius G, McGuire A, Camill P, Jorgenson T, Kuhry P, Michaelson G, O'Donnell J, Schuur E, Tarnocai C, Johnson K & Grosse G (2012) Field Information Links Permafrost Carbon to Physical Vulnerabilities of Thawing. *Geophys Res Lett* 39: L15704.

40. Zimov SA, Schuur EAG & Chapin FS (2006) Permafrost and the Global Carbon Budget. *Climate Change* 312(5780): 1612-3.

41. Gorham E (1991) Northern Peatlands: Role in the Carbon Cycle and Probable Responses to Climatic Warming. *Ecol Appl* 1: 182-195.

42. Schuur E, Bockheim J, Canadell JG, B EEC, Goryachkin SV, Hagemann S, Kuhry P, Lafleur PM, Lee H, Nelson MFE, Rinke A, Romanovsky VE, Shiklomanov N, Tarnocai C, Venevsky S, Vogel JG & Sergei a (2008) Vulnerability of Permafrost Carbon to Climate Change: Implications for the Global Carbon Cycle. *Bioscience* 58(8): 701-714.

43. Zimov SA, Davydov SP, Zimova GM, Davydova AI, Schuur EA, Dutta K & Chapin FS (2006) Permafrost Carbon: Stock and Decomposability of a Globally Significant Carbon Pool. *Geophys Res Lett* 33: L20502.

44. Schuur E, Vogel J, Crummer K, Lee H, Sickman J & Osterkamp T (2009) The Effect of Permafrost Thaw on Old Carbon Release and Net Carbon Exchange from Tundra. *Nature* 459: 556-559.

45. Schaefer K, Lantuit H, Romanovsky VE, Schuur EA & Witt R (2014) The Impact of the Permafrost Carbon Feedback on Global Climate. *Environ Res Lett* 9: 085003.

46. Wagner D & Liebner S (2009) in Global Warming and Carbon Dynamics in Permafrost Soils: Methane Production and Oxidation. ed Margesin R (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg), pp 219-236.

47. Mer JL & Roger P (2001) Production, Oxidation, Emission and Consumption of Methane by Soils : A Review. *Eur J Soil Biol* 37: 25-50.

48. Graham DE, Wallenstein MD, Vishnivetskaya TA, Waldrop MP, Phelps TJ, Pfiffner SM, Onstott TC, Whyte LG, Rivkina EM, Gilichinsky DA, Elias DA, Mackelprang R, VerBerkmoes NC, Hettich RL, Wagner D, Wullschleger SD & Jansson JK (2012) Microbes in Thawing Permafrost: The Unknown Variable in the Climate Change Equation. *ISME J* 6: 709-712.

49. Christensen T, Johansson T, Akerman H, Mastepanov M, Malmer N, Friborg T, Crill P & Svensson B (2004) Thawing Sub-Arctic Permafrost: Effect on Vegetation and Methane Emissions. *Geophys Res Lett* 31: L04501.

50. Steven B, Niederberger TD & Whyte LG (2009) in Bacterial and Archaeal Diversity in Permafrost. ed Margesin R (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg), pp 59-72.

51. Rivkina E, Gilichinsky D, Wagener S, Tiedje J & McGrath J (1998) Biogeochemical Activity of Anaerobic Microorganisms from Buried Permafrost Sediments. *Geomicrobiol J* 15(3): 187-193.

52. Buckeridge KM & Grogan P (2008) Deepened Snow Alters Soil Microbial Nutrient Limitations in Arctic Birch Hummock Tundra. *Applied Soil Ecology* 39(2): 210-222.

53. Vishnivetskaya T, Kathariou S, McGrath J, Gilichinsky D & Tiedje JM (2000) Low-Temperature Recovery Strategies for the Isolation of Bacteria from Ancient Permafrost Sediments. *Extremophiles : Life Under Extreme Conditions* 4(3): 165-73.

54. Yergeau E & Greer CW (2012) in Metagenomic Analysis of Polar Ecosystems. eds Miller R & Whyte L Washington, DC), pp 156-165.

55. Gilichinsky D, Rivkina E, Shcherbakova V, Laurinavichuis K & Tiedje J (2003) Supercooled Water Brines within Permafrost-an Unknown Ecological Niche for Microorganisms: A Model for Astrobiology *Astrobiology* 3(2): 331-41.

56. Katayama T, Tanaka M, Moriizumi J, Nakamura T, Brouchkov A, Douglas Ta, Fukuda M, Tomita F & Asano K (2007) Phylogenetic Analysis of Bacteria Preserved in a Permafrost Ice Wedge for 25,000 Years. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 73(7): 2360-3.

57. Kaiser C, Meyera H, Biasia C, Rusalimovab O, Barsukovb P & Richtera A (2005) Storage and Mineralization of Carbon and Nitrogen in Soils of a Frost-Boil Tundra Ecosystem in Siberia. *Appl Soil Ecol* 29: 173-183.

58. Hinsa-Leasure S & Bakermans C (2013) in Diversity of bacteria in permafrost. *Cold-adapted microorganisms*, ed Yumoto I (Caister Academic Press, Norfolk, UK), pp 1-12.

59. Hansen AA, Herbert RA, Mikkelsen K, Jensen LL, Kristoffersen T, Tiedje JM, Lomstein BA & Finster KW (2007) Viability, Diversity and Composition of the Bacterial Community in a High Arctic Permafrost Soil from Spitsbergen, Northern Norway. *Environ Microbiol* 9: 2870-2884.

60. Steven B, Briggs G, McKay CP, Pollard WH, Greer CW & Whyte LG (2007) Characterization of the Microbial Diversity in a Permafrost Sample from the Canadian High Arctic using Culture-Dependent and Culture-Independent Methods. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 59(2): 513-23.

61. Vishnivetskaya Ta, Petrova Ma, Urbance J, Ponder M, Moyer CL, Gilichinsky Da & Tiedje JM (2006) Bacterial Community in Ancient Siberian Permafrost as Characterized by Culture and Culture-Independent Methods. *Astrobiology* 6(3): 400-14.

62. Yergeau E, Hogues H, Whyte LG & Greer CW (2010) The Functional Potential of High Arctic Permafrost Revealed by Metagenomic Sequencing, qPCR and Microarray Analyses. *ISME* J 4(9): 1206-14.

63. Panikov NS (2009) in Microbial Activity in Frozen Soils. *Permafrost Soils*, ed Margesin R (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg), pp 119-147.

64. Friedmann EI (1994) in Viable Microorganisms in Permafrost. ed Gilichinsky Da (Russian Academy of Sciences, Pushchino), pp 21-26.

65. Panikov NS, Flanagan PW, Oechel WC, Mastepanov Ma & Christensen TR (2006) Microbial Activity in Soils Frozen to Below -39°C. *Soil Biol Biochem* 38(4): 785-794.

66. Tuorto SJ, Darias P, McGuinness LR, Panikov N, Zhang T, Haggblom M,M. & Kerkhof LJ (2014) Bacterial Genome Replication at Subzero Temperatures in Permafrost. *ISME J* 8(1): 139-49.

67. Steven B, Pollard WH, Greer CW & Whyte LG (2008) Microbial Diversity and Activity through a Permafrost/Ground Ice Core Profile from the Canadian High Arctic. *Environ Microbiol* 10(12): 3388-403.

68. Rivkina EM, Friedmann EI & Mckay CP (2000) Metabolic Activity of Permafrost Bacteria Below the Freezing Point. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 66(8): 3230-3233.

69. Khmelenina VN, Makutina VA, Kalyuzhnaya MG & Rivkina EM (2002) Discovery of Viable Methanotrophic Bacteria in Permafrost Sediments of Northeast Siberia. *Doklady Biological Sciences : Proceedings of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR, Biological Sciences Sections / Translated from Russian* 384(2): 283-285.

70. Price PB & Sowers T (2004) Temperature Dependence of Metabolic Rates for Microbial Growth, Maintenance, and Survival. *PNAS* 101(13): 4631-4636.

71. Gilichinsky D, V., Petrova M, Spirina E, Mamykin V & Rivkina E (2008) in Bacteria in Permafrost. eds Margesin R, Schinner F, Marx JC & Gerday C (Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp 83-102.

72. Wilhelm RC, Niederberger TD, Greer C & Whyte LG (2011) Microbial Diversity of Active Layer and Permafrost in an Acidic Wetland from the Canadian High Arctic. *Can J Microbiol* 57: 303-315.

73. Lee ZM, Bussema III C & Schmidt TM (2009) rrnDB: Documenting the Number of rRNA and tRNA Genes in Bacteria and Archaea. *Nucleic Acids Res* 37: D489-D493.

74. Niederberger TD, Steven B, Charvet S, Barbier B & Whyte LG (2009) *Virgibacillus Arcticus* sp. Nov., a Moderatley Halophilic, Endospore-Forming Bacterium from Permafrost in the Canadian High Arctic
br />. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 59: 2219-2225.

75. Suetin SV, Shcherbakova VA, Chuvilskaya NA, Rivkina EM, Suzina NE, Lysenko AM & Gilichinsky DA (2009) *Clostridium Tagluense* Sp. Nov., a Psychrotolerant, Anaerobic, Spore-Forming Bacterium from Permafrost. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* 59: 1421-1426.

76. Shi T, Reeves RH, Gilichinsky DA & Friedmann EI (1997) Characterization of Viable Bacteria from Siberian Permafrost by 16S rDNA Sequencing. *Microb Ecol* 33: 169-179.

77. Trotsenko Ya & Khmelenina VN (2005) Aerobic Methanotrophic Bacteria of Cold Ecosystems. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 53(1): 15-26.

78. Tas N, Prestat E, McFarland JW, Wickland KP, Knight R, Berhe AA, Jorgenson T, Waldrop MP & Jansson JK (2014) Impact of Fire on Active Layer and Permafrost Microbial Communities and Metagenomes in an Upland Alaskan Boreal Forest. *ISME J* 8(9): 1904-19.

79. Wilhelm RC, Radtke KJ, Mykytczuk NCS, Greer CW & Whyte LG (2012) Life at the Wedge: The Activity and Diversity of Arctic Ice Wedge Microbial Communities. *Astrobiology* 12(4): 347-60.

80. Ganzert L, Jurgens G, Munster U & Wagner D (2007) Methanogenic Communities in Permafrost-Affected Soils of the Laptev Sea Coast, Siberian Arctic, Characterized by 16S rRNA Gene Fingerprints. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 59(2): 476-88.

81. Steven B, Niederberger TD, Bottos EM, Dyen MR & Whyte LG (2007) Development of a Sensitive Radiorespiration Method for Detecting Microbial Activity at Subzero Temperatures. *J Microbiol Methods* 71: 275-280.

82. Hayden HL, Mele PM, Bougoure DS, Allan CY, Norng S, Piceno YM, Brodie EL, Desantis TZ, Andersen GL, Williams AL & Hovenden MJ (2012) Changes in the Microbial Community Structure of Bacteria, Archaea and Fungi in Response to Elevated CO2 and Warming in an Australian Native Grassland Soil. *Environ Microbiol* 14(12): 3081-3096.

83. Rousk J, Frey SD & Baath E (2012) Temperature Adaptation of Bacterial Communities in Experimentally Warmed Forest Soils. *Global Change Biol* 18(10): 3252-3258.

84. (2001) in Field Guide to Quaternary Research in Central and Western Yukon Territory. ed Froese, D., Duk-Rodkin, A., Bond,J.

85. Zhisheng A, Kutzbach JE, Prell WL & Porter SC (2001) Evolution of Asian Monsoons and Phased Uplift of the Himalaya-Tibetan Plateau since Late Miocene Times. *Nature* 411: 62-66.

86. Haug GH & Tiedemann R (1998) Effect of the Formation of the Isthmus of Panama on Atlantic Ocean Thermohaline Circulation. *Nature* 393: 673-676.

87. Berger A (1988) Milankovitch Theory and Climate. Reviews of Geophysics 26: 624-657.

88. Walker M, Johnsen S, Rasmussen SO, Popp T, Steffensen J, Gibbard P, Hoek W, Lowe J, Andrews J, Bjorck S, Cwynar LC, Hughen K, Kershaw P, Kromer B, Litt T, Lowe DJ, Nakagawa T, Newnham R & Schwander J (2009) Formal Definition and Dating of the GSSP (GlobalStratoty Pe Section and Point) for the Base of theHolocene using the Greenland NGRIP Ice Core, and Selected Auxiliary Records. *Journal of Quaternary Science* 24(1): 3-17.

89. Martı'nez-Botı' MA, Foster GL, Chalk TB, Rohling EJ, Sexton PF, Lunt DJ, Pancost RD, Badger MP & Schmidt DN (2015) Plio-Pleistocene Climate Sensitivity Evaluated using High-Resolution CO₂ Records. *Nature* 518: 49-54.

90. ACIA (2005) in Arctic Climate: Past and Present. *Arctic Climate Impact Assessment: Scientific Report*<*br*/>, ed McBean G, et al (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK), pp 21-60.

91. Elias SA (2001) Mutual Climatic Range Reconstructions of Seasonal Temperatures Based on Late Pleistocene Fossil Beetle Assemblages in Eastern Beringia. *Quaternary Science Reviews* 20: 77-91.

92. Laxton NF, Burn CR & Smith CAS (1996) Productivity of Loessal Grassland in Kluane Lake Region, Yukon Territory, and the Beringian "production Paradox". *Arctic* 49: 129-140.

93. Schweger CE (1997) in Late Quaternary palaeoecology of the Yukon: A review. *Insects of the Yukon*, eds Danks HV & Downes JA (Biological Survey of Canada (Terrestrial Arthropods), Ottawa, Canada), pp 59-72.

94. Whitlock C (1992) Vegetational and Climatic History of the Pacific Northewest during the Last 20,000 Years: Implications for Understanding Present-Day Biodiversity. *The Northwest Environmental Journal* 8: 5-28.

95. Whitlock C & Bartlein PJ (1997) Vegetation and Climate Change in Northwest America during the Past 125 Kyr. *Nature* 388: 57-61.

96. Whitlock C, Sarna-Wojcicki AM, Bartlein PJ & Nickmann RJ (2000) Environmental History and Tephrastratigraphy at Carp Lake, Southwestern Columbia Basin, Washington, USA. *Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol* 155: 7-29.

97. Heinrichs ML, Hebda RJ & Walker IR (2001) Holocene Vegetation and Natural Disturbance in the Engelmann Spruce Subalpine Fir Biogeoclimatic Zone at Mount Kobau, British Columbia. *Can J for Res* 31(12): 2183-2199.

98. Grigg LD & Whitlock C (1998) Late-Glacial Vegetation and Climate Change in Western Oregon. *Quaternary Research* 49(3): 287-298.

99. Daugherty RD (1956) Archaeology of the Lind Coulee Site, Washington. *Proc Am Philos Soc* 100(3): 223-278.

100. Chatters JC (1995) Population Growth, Climate Cooling, and the Development of Collector Strategies on the Southern Plateau, Western North America. *Journal of World Prehistory* 9(3): 341-399.

101. Guthrie RD (1984) in Mosaics, allelochemics, and nutrients: an ecological theory of late Pleistocene megafaunal extinctions . *Quaternary Extinctions*, eds Martin PS & Klein RG (Univ. Arizona Press, Tucson), pp 259-298.

102. AMAP (2011) Snow, Water, Ice and Permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA): Climate Change and the Cryosphere, (Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo),

103. Alley RB (2000) The Younger Dryas Cold Interval as Viewed from Central Greenland. *Quat Sci Rev* 19: 213-226.

104. Alley RB, Marotzke J, Nordhaus WD, Overpeck JT, Peteet DM, Pielke Jr. RA, Pierrehumbert RT, Rhines PB, Stocker TF, Talley LD & Wallace JM (2003) Abrupt Climate Change. *Science* 299: 2005-2010.

105. Handt O, Hoss M, Krings M & Paabo S (1994) Ancient DNA: Methodological Challenges. *Experientia* 50(6): 524-9.

106. Willerslev E, Hansen AJ & Poinar HN (2004) Isolation of Nucleic Acids and Cultures from Fossil Ice and Permafrost. *Trends Ecol Evol* 19(3): 141-7.

107. Lindahl T (1993) Instability and Decay of the Primary Structure of DNA. *Nature* 362: 709-715.

108. Hofreiter M, Serre D, Poinar H, Kuch M & Paabo S (2001) Ancient DNA. *Nature Reviews.Genetics* 2(5): 353-9.

109. Smith CI, Chamberlain AT, Riley MS, Cooper A, Stringer CB & Collins MJ (2001) Neanderthal DNA: Not just Old but Old and Cold?. *Nature* 410: 771-772.

110. Willerslev E, Hansen AJ, Brand TB, Ronn R, Barnes I, Wiuf C, Gilichinsky DA, D M & A C (2004) Long-Term Persistence of Bacterial DNA. *Curr Biol* 14: R9-R10.

111. Willerslev E, Hansen AJ, Binladen J, Brand TB, Gilbert MT, Shapiro B, Bunce M, Wiuf C, Gilichinsky Da & Cooper A (2003) Diverse Plant and Animal Genetic Records from Holocene and Pleistocene Sediments. *Science* 300(5620): 791-5.

112. Lydolph MC, Jacobsen J, Arctander P, Gilbert TP, Gilichinsky DA, Hansen AJ, Willerslev E & Lange L (2005) Beringian Paleoecology Inferred from Permafrost-Preserved Fungal DNA Beringian Paleoecology Inferred from Permafrost-Preserved Fungal DNA. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 71: 1012-1017.

113. Haile J, Froese DG, Macphee RDE, Roberts RG, Arnold LJ, Reyes AV, Rasmussen M, Nielsen R, Brook BW, Robinson S, Demuro M, Gilbert MT, Munch K, Austin JJ, Cooper A, Barnes I, Moller P & Willerslev E (2009) Ancient DNA Reveals Late Survival of Mammoth and Horse in Interior Alaska. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106(52): 22352-7.

114. Lemarchand K, Masson L & Brousseau R (2004) Molecular Biology and DNA Microarray Technology for Microbial Quality Monitoring of Water. *Crit Rev Microbiol* 30: 145-172.

115. Nocker A, Cheung C & Camper AK (2006) Comparison of Propidium Monoazide with Ethidium Monoazide for Differentiation of Live Vs. Dead Bacteria by Selective Removal of DNA from Dead Cells. *J Microbiol Methods* 67(2): 310-20.

116. Nebe-von-Caron G, Stephens PJ, Hewitt CJ, Powell JR & Badley Ra (2000) Analysis of Bacterial Function by Multi-Colour Fluorescence Flow Cytometry and Single Cell Sorting. *J Microbiol Methods* 42(1): 97-114.

117. Dumont MG & Murrell JC (2005) Stable Isotope Probing - Linking Microbial Identity to Function. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 3: 499-504.

118. Bolter M, Bloem J, Meiners K & Moller R (2002) Enumeration and Biovolume Determination of Microbial Cells - A Methodological Review and Recommendations for Applications in Ecological Research. *Biol Fertil Soils* 36(4): 249-259.

119. Maier R & Gentry T (2015) in Physiological Methods. eds Pepper I, Gerba C & Gentry T (Elsevier Inc, pp 213-243.

120. Hollister E, Brooks J & Gentry T (2015) in Nucleic Acid-Based Methods of Analysis. eds Pepper I, Gerba C & Gentry T (Elsevier Inc, pp 271-305.

121. Nocker A, Sossa-Fernandez P, Burr MD & Camper AK (2007) Use of Propidium Monoazide for Live/Dead Distinction in Microbial Ecology. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 73(16): 5111-7.

122. Kim SY & Ko G (2012) Using Propidium Monoazide to Distinguish between Viable and Nonviable Bacteria, MS2 and Murine Norovirus. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 55(3): 182-8.

123. Bae S & Wuertz S (2009) Discrimination of Viable and Dead Fecal Bacteroidales Bacteria by Quantitative PCR with Propidium Monoazide. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 75(9): 2940-4.

124. Lozupone CA & Knight R (2008) Species Divergence and the Measurement of Microbial Diversity. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 32(4): 557-578.

125. Chao A (1984) Non-Parametric Estimation of the Number of Classes in a Population. *Scand J Stat* 11: 265-270.

126. Chao A & Lee S (1992) Estimating the Number of Classes Via Sample Coverage
stat />. J Am Stat Assoc 87: 210-217.

127. Shannon CE & Weaver W (1949) *The mathematical theory of communication*, (University of Illinois Press, Urbana, II),

128. Simpson EH (1949) Measurement of Diversity. Nature 163: 688.

129. Hughes JB, Hellmann JJ, Ricketts TH & Bohannan BJ (2001) Counting the Uncountable-Statistical Approaches to Estimating Microbial Diversity. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 67: 4399-4406.

130. Maier RM & Gentry TJ (2015) in Physiological Methods. *Environmental Microbiology*, eds Pepper IL, Gerba CP & Gentry TJ (Academic Press, San Diego, CA), pp 213-243.

131. Nogva HK, Dromtorp SM, Nissen H & Rudi K (2003) Ethidium Monoazide for DNA-Based Differentiation of Viable and Dead Bacteria by 5' -Nuclease PCR. *BioTechniques* 34(4): 804-813.

132. Nocker A & Camper AK (2006) Selective Removal of DNA from Dead Cells of Mixed Bacterial Communities by use of Ethidium Monoazide. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 72(3): 1997-2004.

133. Rudi K, Moen B, Dromtorp SM & Holck AL (2005) Use of Ethidium Monoazide and PCR in Combination for Quantification of Viable and Dead Cells in Complex Samples. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 71(2): 1018-1024.

134. Wagner AO, Malin C, Knapp Ba & Illmer P (2008) Removal of Free Extracellular DNA from Environmental Samples by Ethidium Monoazide and Propidium Monoazide. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 74(8): 2537-2539.

135. Hadar J, Tirosh T, Grafstein O & Korabelnikov E (1997) Autoclave Emissions - Hazardous Or Not. *Appl Biosaf* 2(3): 44-51.

136. Juck DF, Whissell G, Steven B, Pollard W, Mckay CP, Greer CW & Whyte LG (2005) Utilization of Fluorescent Microspheres and a Green Fluorescent Protein-Marked Strain for Assessment of Microbiological Contamination of Permafrost and Ground Ice Core Samples from the Canadian High Arctic. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 71(2): 1035-1041.

137. Maarek YS, Jacovi M, Shtalhaim M, Ur S, Zernik D & Ben-Shaul I (1997) WebCutter: A System for Dynamic and Tailorable Site Mapping. *Comput Networks ISDN Syst* 29(8-13): 1269-1279.

138. Figueras MJ, Levican A & Collado L (2012) Updated 16S rRNA-RFLP Method for the Identification of all Currently Characterised Arcobacter Spp. *BMC Microbiol* 12: 292-292.

139. Froese DG, Zazula GD, Westgate Ja, Preece SJ, Sanborn PT, Reyes AV & Pearce NJG (2009) The Klondike Goldfields and Pleistocene Environments of Beringia. *GSA Today* 19(8): 4-10.

140. Bellemain E, Davey ML, Kauserud H, Epp LS, Boessenkool S, Coissac E, Geml J, Edwards M, Willerslev E, Gussarova G, Taberlet P & Brochmann C (2012) Fungal Palaeodiversity Revealed using High-Throughput Metabarcoding of Ancient DNA from Arctic Permafrost. *Environ Microbiol* 15: 1176-1189.

141. Hofreiter M & Stewart J (2009) Ecological Change, Range Fluctuations and Population Dynamics during the Pleistocene. *Curr Biol* 19: R584-R594.

142. Bakermans C, Tsapin AI, Souza-Egipsy V, Gilichinsky Da & Nealson KH (2003) Reproduction and Metabolism at -10 Degrees C of Bacteria Isolated from Siberian Permafrost. *Environ Microbiol* 5(4): 321-326.

143. D'Costa VM, King CE, Kalan L, Morar M, Sung WWL, Schwarz C, Froese D, Zazula G, Calmels F, Debruyne R, Golding GB, Poinar HN & Wright GD (2011) Antibiotic Resistance is Ancient. *Nature* 477(7365): 457-461.

144. Anonymous (1996) *Methods of soil analysis Part 3 - Chemical methods,* eds Sparks DL, Page AL, Helmke PA & Loeppert RH (Soil Science Society of America, American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI),

145. Kjeldahl J (1883) Neue Methode Zur Bestimmung Des Stickstoffs in Organischen Korpern. *Z Anal Chem* 22: 366-382.

146. McGill WB & Figueiredo CT (1993) in Total Nitrogen. Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis, ed Carter M (CRC Press LLC, Boca Raton, Florida), pp 201-211.

147. (1993) in Method 365.1 Determination of Phosphorous by Automated Colorimetry. *Methods for the Determination of Inorganic Substances in Environmental Samples*, ed O'Dell J (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio),

148. (1993) in Method 350.1 Determination of Ammonia Nitrogen by Semi-Automated Colorimetry. *Methods for the Determination of Inorganic Substances in Environmental Samples,* ed O'Dell J (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio),

149. Maynard D & Kalra Y (1993) in Nitrate and Exchangeable Ammonium Nitrogen. ed Carter M (Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, USA), pp 25-38.

150. Benton Jones J (2001) Laboratory Guide for Conducting Soil Tests and Plant Analysis, (CRC Press,

151. Harfmann R & Crouch S (1989) Kinetic Study of Berthelot Reaction Steps in the Absence and Presence of Coupling Reagents. *Talanta* 36: 261-269.

152. Maynard D, Kalra Y & Crumbaugh J (2008) in Nitrate and exchangeable ammonium nitrogen. *Soil sampling and methods of analysis*, eds Carter M & Gregorich E (CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA), pp 71-80.

153. Tiessen H & Moir JO (1993) in Total and Organic Carbon. *Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis*, ed Carter M (CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA), pp 187-199.

154. Schloss PD, Westcott SL, Ryabin T, Hall JR, Hartmann M, Hollister EB, Lesniewski Ra, Oakley BB, Parks DH, Robinson CJ, Sahl JW, Stres B, Thallinger GG, Van Horn D,J. & Weber CF (2009) Introducing Mothur: Open-Source, Platform-Independent, Community-Supported Software for Describing and Comparing Microbial Communities. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 75(23): 7537-41.

155. McCune B & Mefford M (2011) PC-ORD. Multivariate Analysis of Ecological Data

156. McCune B, Grace J & Urban D (2002) *Analysis of Ecological Communities,* (MjM Software Design, Gleneden Beach, Oregon, U.S.A),

157. Olsson I (1986) in Radiometric Methods. ed Berglund B (John Wilet & Sons, Chichester), pp 273-312.

158. Reimer PJ, Baillie MGL, Bard E, Bayliss A, Beck JW, Blackwell PG, Bronk Ramsey C, Buck CE, Burr GS, Edwards RL, Friedrich M, Grootes PM, Guilderson TP, Hajdas I, Heaton T, Hogg AG, Hughen KA, Kaiser KF, Kromer B, McCormac FG, Manning SW, Reimer RW, Richards DA, Southon JR, Talamo S, Turney CSM & van dP (2013) IntCal13 and Marine13 Radiocarbon Age Calibration Curves 0–50,000 Years Cal BP. *Radiocarbon* 55(4): 1869-1887.

159. Bronk Ramsey C (2009) Bayesian Analysis of Radiocarbon Dates. *Radiocarbon* 51(1): 337-360.

160. Zimov SA, Chuprynin VI, Oreshko AP, Chapin III FS, Reynolds JF & Chapin MC (1995) Steppe-Tundra Transition A Herbivore-Driven Biome Shift at the End of the Pleistocene. *Am Nat* 146: 765-794.

161. Zhang B, Chen S, He X, Liu W, Zhao Q, Zhao L & Tian C (2014) Responses of Soil Microbial Communities to Experimental Warming in Alpine Grasslands on the Qinghai-Tibet Plateau. *PLoS One* 9(8): e103859.

162. Grosse G, Romanovsky V, Jorgenson T, Anthony KW, Brown J & Overduin PP (2011) Vulnerability and Feedbacks of Permafrost to Climate Change. *Eos* 92(9): 73-80.

163. Lauber CL, Hamady M, Knight R & Fierer N (2009) Pyrosequencing-Based Assessment of Soil pH as a Predictor of Soil Bacterial Community Structure at the Continental Scale. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 75(15): 5111-5120.

164. Rousk J, Baath E & Brookes PC (2010) Soil Bacterial and Fungal Communities Across a pH Gradient in an Arable Soil. *ISME J* 4: 1340-1351.

165. Fierer N & Jackson RB (2006) The Diversity and Biogeography of Soil Bacterial Communities. *PNAS* 103(3): 626-631.

166. Kuffner M, Hai B, Rattei T, Melodelima C, Schloter M, Zechmeister-Boltenstern S, Jandl R, Schindlbacher A & Sessitsch A (2012) Effects of Season and Experimental Warming on the Bacterial Community in a Temperate Mountain Forest Soil Assessed by 16S rRNA Gene Pyrosequencing. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 82(3): 551-562.

167. DeAngelis KM, Pold G, Topcuoglu BD, van Diepen, Linda T. A., Varney RM, Blanchard JL, Melillo J & Frey SD (2015) Long-Term Forest Soil Warming Alters Microbial Communities in Temperate Forest Soils. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 6: 1-13.

168. Sistla Sa, Moore JC, Simpson RT, Gough L, Shaver GR & Schimel JP (2013) Long-Term Warming Restructures Arctic Tundra without Changing Net Soil Carbon Storage. *Nature* 497(7451): 615-8.

169. Clemmensen KE, Michelsen A, Jonasson S & Shaver GR (2012) Increased Ectomycorrhizal Fungal Abundance After Long-Term Fertilization and Warming of Two Arctic Tundra Ecosystems. *New Phytol* 171(2): 391-404.

170. Walker JKM, Egger KN & Henry GHR (2008) Long-Term Experimental Warming Alters Nitrogen-Cycling Communities but Site Factors Remain the Primary Drivers of Community Structure in High Arctic Tundra Soils. *ISME J* 2(9): 982-995.

171. Zhang W, Parker KM, Luo Y, Wan S, Wallace LL & Hu S (2005) Soil Microbial Responses to Experimental Warming and Clipping in a Tallgrass Prairie
br /> . *Glob Chang Biol* 11: 266-277.

172. Penton CR, St. Louis D, Cole JR, Luo Y, Wu L, Schuur EA, Zhou J & Tiedjea JM (2013) Fungal Diversity in Permafrost and Tallgrass Prairie Soils Under Experimental Warming Conditions. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 79: 7063-7072.

173. Yergeau E, Bokhorst S, Kang S, Zhou J, Greer CW, Aerts R & Kowalchuk Ga (2012) Shifts in Soil Microorganisms in Response to Warming are Consistent Across a Range of Antarctic Environments. *ISME J* 6(3): 692-702.

174. Weedon JT, Aerts R, Kowalchuk Ga & van Bodegom PM (2014) No Effects of Experimental Warming but Contrasting Seasonal Patterns for Soil Peptidase and Glycosidase Enzymes in a Sub-Arctic Peat Bog. *Biogeochemistry* 117(1): 55-66.

175. Kokelj SV & Burn CR (2005) Geochemistry of the Active Layer and Near-Surface Permafrost, Mackenzie Delta Region, Northwest Territories, Canada. *Can.J.Earth Sci.* 42: 37-48.

176. Nicholson WL, Munakata N, Horneck G, Melosh HJ & Setlow P (2000) Resistance of Bacillus Endospores to Extreme Terrestrial and Extraterrestrial Environments. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 64: 548-572.

177. Blazewicz SJ, Petersen DG, Waldrop MP & Firestone MK (2012) Anaerobic Oxidation of Methane in Tropical and Boreal Soils: Ecological Significance in Terrestrial Methane Cycling. *J Geophys Res Biogeosci* 117: G02033.

178. McCalley CK, Woodcroft BJ, Hodgkins SB, Wehr RA, Kim E, Mondav R, Crill PM, Chanton JP, Rich VI, Tyson GW & Saleska SR (2014) Methane Dynamics Regulated by Microbial Community Response to Permafrost Thaw. *Nature* 514: 478-481.

179. Conrad R (2005) Quantification of Methanogenic Pathways using Stable Carbon Isotopic Signatures: A Review and a Proposal. *Org Geochem* 36(5): 739-752.

180. Wagner D & Liebner S (2010) in Methanogenesis in Arctic permafrost habitats. *Handbook of Hydrocarbon and Lipid Microbiology*, ed Timmis KN (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg), pp 655-663.

181. Walter KM, Chanton JP, Chapin III FS, Schuur EG & Zimov SA (2008) Methane Production and Bubble Emissions from Arctic Lakes: Isotopic Implications for Source Pathways and Ages. *J Geophys Res* 113: G00A08.